
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, 
audio-recorded, photographed or reported 
electronically by the use of social media by anyone 
attending.  This does not apply to any part of the 
meeting that is held in private session.  The Council 
will webcast the meeting. 

Contact: 
democracy@welhat.gov.uk 
Democratic Services 

 
10 December 2024 

 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE to be held on Thursday 19 December 
2024 at 7.30 pm in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden 
City, Herts, AL8 6AE 
 

 
A G E N D A 

PART 1 
 

1.   APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTIONS  
 

 To note any substitution of Committee Members made in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rules. 
 

2.   MINUTES  
 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 24 October 2024 
(previously circulated). 
 

3.   NOTIFICATION OF URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 9 
AND ANY ITEMS WITHDRAWN FROM THE AGENDA  
 

4.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST BY MEMBERS  
 

 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 
pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on the Agenda. 
 

5.   6/2024/2035/OUTLINE -  ST CHRISTOPHERS NURSING HOME (Pages 3 - 56) 
 

 Report of the Assistant Director (Planning) 
 

6.   6/2024/1569/FULL - HATFIELD MARKET PLACE (Pages 57 - 82) 
 

 Report of the Assistant Director (Planning) 
 

7.   APPEAL DECISIONS 11/10/2024 TO 10/12/2024 (Pages 83 - 94) 
 

Public Document Pack



 Report of the Assistant Director (Planning) 
 

8.   FUTURE PLANNING APPLICATIONS (Pages 95 - 98) 
 

 Report of the Assistant Director (Planning) 
 

9.   SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION  
 

10.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 The Committee is asked to resolve: 
 
That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for Item 11 on the grounds that it 
involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information as defined in 
Section 100(A)(3) and Paragraphs 2 (Information likely to reveal the identity of an 
individual), and 6 (Statutory notice or order)  of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said 
Act (as amended). 
 
In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 
 

PART II 
 

11.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF AN EXEMPT NATURE AT THE DISCRETION OF 
THE CHAIRMAN  
 

 
Circulation: Councillors J.Skoczylas (Chairman) 

H.Goldwater 
D.Panter 
R.Trigg 
C.Watson 
A.Chesterman 
 

B.Fitzsimon 
K.Gardner 
P.Shah (Vice-Chairman) 
M.Short 
T.Skottowe 
I.Walsh 
 

 Senior Leadership Team 
Press and Public (except Part II Items) 

 
 
If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Democratic 
Services, Governance Service on  or email – democracy@welhat.gov.uk  
 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


Part I 
Main author: Ashley Ransome 
Executive Member: Councillor R. 

Grewal 
(Welham Green & South Hatfield) 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 19TH DECEMBER 2024 
REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (PLANNING)  
 
6/2024/2035/OUTLINE 
 
ST CHRISTOPHERS NURSING HOME DRAKES WAY HATFIELD AL10 8XY 
 
OUTLINE PERMISSION FOR THE DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BUILDINGS 
(USE CLASS C2) AND ERECTION OF UP TO 72 NO. RESIDENTIAL 
DWELLINGS (USE CLASS C3), WITH ALL MATTERS RESERVED 
 
APPLICANT: EVEN HATFIELD LTD 
 
1 Site Description 

 
1.1 The site is located directly south of Hatfield Leisure Centre, east of 

Travellers Lane and De Havilland Nursery and Primary School, and to the 
north and west of two-storey residential development on Drakes Way and 
Stanley Drive.  
 

1.2 The site is approximately 1.5 hectares in area and is occupied by five single 
storey buildings and a two-storey communal ‘hub’ which forms St 
Christopher’s residential care home (use class C2). St Christopher’s closed 
in August 2023, and it remains vacant.  

 
1.3 The wider site includes landscaped communal areas for residents enclosed 

by a perimeter boundary hedge and fencing.  
 

1.4 The site is accessed by a single-entry point to the south of the site from 
Drakes Way, with an area of hard standing located to the centre of the site 
for parking. 
 

1.5 The site is located in Flood Zone 1 (least likely to flood) and is not located 
within a conservation area, nor is it within the Metropolitan Green Belt. 
 

2 The Proposal 
 

2.1 Outline planning permission is sought for the demolition of existing buildings 
(use class C2) and erection of up to 72no. residential dwellings (use class 
C3), with all matters reserved. 
 

2.2 An indicative layout plan has been provided to illustrate how the site could 
be developed. The indicative mix includes 1 and 2 bed apartments and 2, 3 
and 4 bed houses at scales of two and three stories.  

 
2.3 The primary access into the site is proposed to be from the retained and 

adapted access off Drakes Way. In addition, a new access is proposed to 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



the east of the existing access. Parking is shown throughout the site in 
various forms including driveways, parking courts and visitor bays. 
Landscaping and areas of open space are proposed throughout the 
indicative site. 

 
3 Reason for Committee Consideration 
 
3.1 This application is presented to the Development Management Committee 

because it has been called-in by Councillor Zukowskyj. 
 

4 Relevant Planning History 
 
4.1 Application Number: S6/2005/1309/FP 

Decision: Granted 
Decision Date: 9th January 2006 
Proposal: Erection of single storey extensions to Scott House (house 1), 
Johnson House (house 4) and Bonnington (house 5) 

 
4.2 Application Number: 6/2015/1974/PN24 

Decision: Withdrawn 
Decision Date: 9th December 2015 
Proposal: Installation of solar panels on East, West and South facing roofs. 

 
4.3 Application Number: 6/2024/0678/PA 

Advice Date: 21st June 2024 
Proposal: Pre-application advice for demolition of the existing buildings and 
the erection of 58no. residential dwellings (Use Class C3). 
Summary of advice: The proposed development is considered acceptable 
in principle. However, additional details are required to be submitted to be 
able to fully assess the proposal in respect of all other elements to include 
the loss of a care home, affordable housing and Vacant Building Credit 
(VBC), design, landscaping, residential amenity (existing and future), 
highways and parking, biodiversity, flood risk and sustainable drainage and 
energy and sustainability. 

 
5 Relevant Planning Policy 

 
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework 2023 (NPPF)  

 
5.2 National Design Guide 2021 (NDG)  
 
5.3 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
 
5.4 The Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan 2016-2036 (Local Plan) 

 
5.5 Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 (SDG) 
 
5.6 Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document 2012 (SPD) 

 
5.7 Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Guidance 2004 (SPG) 
 
5.8 Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes 2014 (Interim 

Car Parking Policy) 
 

Page 4



5.9 Recycling and Refuse Separation and Storage Planning Guidance 2015 
 
5.10 Waste management in buildings Code of Practice 2005 

 
5.11 Hertfordshire Local Transport Plan (2018-2031) 2018 
 
5.12 Manual for Streets 
 
5.13 Hertfordshire Waste Development Framework 2012 

 
6 Site Designation  

 
6.1 The site lies within the town of Hatfield as designated in the Welwyn 

Hatfield Local Plan. 
 

7 Representations Received  
 

7.1 The application was advertised by means of a press notice, neighbour 
notification letters and site notices. In total, five representations have been 
received, comprising one objection together with four comments. All 
representations received are published in full on the Council’s website and 
are summarised below: 

 

 Squeezing too many properties onto this land. 

 Need houses, not flats. 

 Parking is an issue – no parking permits within surrounding area. 

 Poor infrastructure in Hatfield – more properties will result in the 
existing infrastructure being stretched further. 

 Suitable for swift bricks to be included for biodiversity enhancement. 

 Increase in traffic upon the Drakes Way / Travellers Lane junction as 
a result of the development – this junction is already extremely busy 
and difficult to navigate. 

 Parking along Drakes Way already very busy – can more parking 
bays be provided within new development, or alternatively, can the 
number of parking bays along Drakes Way be increased. 

 
8 Consultations Received 

 
8.1 An objection has been received from the Lead Local Flood Authority which 

is summarised as follows: 
 

 Further consideration should be given to above-ground, open SuDS 
features before below-ground attenuation tanks are accepted in 
principle. This is a requirement of the SuDS hierarchy. 

 
8.2 The following have responded advising that they have no objections to the 

proposal in principal, subject to conditions or obligations being applied: 
 

 Affinity Water 

 HCC Growth Team 

 HCC Minerals and Waste Team 

 HCC Transport Programmes and Strategy 

 Herts Ecology 

 NHS 

Page 5



 Thames Water 

 WHBC Client Services 

 WHBC Landscape and Ecology 

 WHBC Public Health and Protection 
 
9 Town/Parish Council Representations 

 
9.1 Hatfield Town Council have commented on the application. The proposed 

development is supported, welcoming the provision of more housing and 
inclusion of a variety of dwelling sizes. 
 

9.2 Members did however have several suggestions with respect to how the 
development could be improved: 

 

 Concerns regarding the lack of social, affordable or intermediate rent 
housing within this application - appropriate requirements for such 
housing should be strongly considered before planning permission is 
granted. 

 Concerns about traffic flows at peak times across the site, and 
access onto and from Drakes Way – consider a better design which 
would allow a continuous loop road around the site, e.g. sacrifice plot 
48 to allow an effective one-way system; 

 Number of unadopted roads in Hatfield causing issues and thus 
careful consideration must be given to how these roads will be 
maintained and repaired in future years – Members were strongly in 
favour of these roads being adopted by the Highway Authority or 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council; and 

 Sufficient developer contributions are needed to improve and 
upgrade the local public services and amenities needed to support 
72 households. This especially applies to health provisions and 
specifically to the lack of GP services in this specific area of Hatfield. 

 
10 Analysis 

 
10.1 The main planning issues to be considered in the determination of this 

application are: 
 
1. Principle of development 
2. Loss of care home 
3. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area  
4. Residential amenity  
5. Highways and parking considerations  
6. Other considerations  

i) Housing mix and density 
ii) Affordable housing and Vacant Building Credit (VBC) 
iii) Accessible and adaptable dwellings 
iv) Landscaping and trees 
v) Ecology and biodiversity  
vi) Flood risk and sustainable drainage 
vii) Environmental Pollution 
viii) Refuse and recycling  
ix) Minerals and waste management 
x) Sustainable design and low carbon homes 
xi) Environmental Impact Assessment 

Page 6



7. Planning obligations 
8. The planning balance 

 
1. Principle of the development 
 

10.2 Policy SP1 of the Council’s Local Plan states that development will be 
permitted where it can be demonstrated that the principles of sustainable 
development are satisfied. Of particular note is that the location of new 
development should be delivered in a sustainable pattern which prioritises 
previously developed land. These objectives are consistent with the NPPF 
which encourages the use of previously developed land, and sites that are 
physically well-related to existing settlements (Para.89), the development of 
under-utilised land and buildings (Para.124) and the efficient use of land 
(Para.128). 
 

10.3 There is also the need to minimise travel by directing growth to those areas 
with good transport networks which are well served by jobs, services and 
facilities; protects areas of highest environmental value; and avoids areas of 
high flood risk. Moreover, the Council will take a positive approach when 
considering development proposals that reflect the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development contained in the NPPF, as well as the principles 
set out within Policy SP1.  
 

10.4 The site has not been allocated in the Local Plan for additional housing 
supply and as such would come forward as a windfall residential site. Policy 
SADM1 would therefore apply. This policy states that all applications for 
windfall residential development on unallocated sites will be granted 
provided: 
 

i. The site is previously developed, or is a small infill site within a town 
or excluded village. In the Green Belt, Policy SADM 34 will apply;  

ii. The development will be accessible to a range of services and 
facilities by transport modes other than the car; 

iii. There will be sufficient infrastructure capacity, either existing or 
proposed, to support the proposed level of development;  

iv. Proposals would not undermine the delivery of allocated sites or the 
overall strategy of the Plan; and  

v. Proposals would not result in disproportionate growth taking into 
account the position of a settlement within the settlement hierarchy. 

 
10.5 In terms of criteria i) of SADM1, Previously Developed Land (PDL) is 

defined in the NPPF as land which is or was occupied by a permanent 
structure, including the curtilage of the developed land (although it should 
not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage should be developed) and 
any associated fixed surface infrastructure. Due to the presence of existing 
permanent buildings on the site, and given that the redevelopment of the 
site would incorporate the demolition of the existing buildings and the 
construction of the new dwellings, the site is considered to be classified as 
PDL. 

 
10.6 In terms of accessibility, the site is situated within the town of Hatfield which 

benefits from a railway station that is sited an approximate 1.4 mile 
walking/cycling distance to the north. A bus interchange is also located next 
to the train station. The closest bus stops to the site are located on the 

Page 7



northern and southern sides of Travellers Lane, approximately 0.1 miles 
away, which benefit from frequent bus services. There is also an 
abundance of footpaths in this location, providing adequate pedestrian 
access to services and facilities located a short walk away within Hatfield. 
As such, access to services and facilities from the application site would not 
entirely be restricted to the use of the private car. The site is therefore 
considered to be in a sustainable location, in accordance with criteria ii). 
 

10.7 There is no evidence to suggest that the existing infrastructure nearby 
would not be able to absorb the development. There would be a benefit 
(albeit limited) on services and facilities nearby as the future occupants of 
the new dwellings have the potential to support and provide demand for 
nearby services and facilities. The proposal is therefore considered to meet 
criteria iii) of Policy SADM1. 
 

10.8 Finally, the proposal is not considered to undermine the delivery of 
allocated sites or the overall strategy of the Plan, nor is it considered to 
result in disproportionate growth, in accordance with criteria iv) and v) of 
Policy SADM1. 
 

10.9 For the reasons above, there is no in principle objection to this site being 
used for residential purposes in land use terms, subject to the physical and 
environmental constraints of the site and its immediate vicinity and other 
relevant planning policies which are discussed below. 
 
2. Loss of care home 
 

10.10 The proposal seeks residential development of the site, following demolition 
of the existing buildings. As set out earlier within the report, the site was last 
used as a care home for up to 168 people. Although vacant, the proposal 
would still result in the loss of a care home. 
 

10.11 Policy SP7 states that, in addition to the overall housing target, a net 
increase of around 200 bed-spaces of specialist residential or nursing care 
(use class C2) will be supported in the Borough’s towns and excluded 
villages over the Local Plan period.  
 

10.12 There are however no policies contained within the Local Plan which seek 
to protect existing care homes. Similarly, within the context of the NPPF, 
paragraph 11 and the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’, 
there are no specific policies which favour or protect care homes in the 
context of making the best use of sites and meeting the need for housing. 
 

10.13 Notwithstanding the above, in response to a request for pre-application 
advice, Officers asked the applicant to explain why the site could not 
continue to be used as a care home. The Planning Statement at Appendix 2 
provides a letter from Carterwood, who are industry experts in the field of 
care home and specialist residential tenures. The letter evaluates the loss 
of St Christopher’s Care Home (SCCH) by comparing its accommodation 
quality to that of newly developed and planned care homes. This 
assessment was conducted through a desktop review, utilising floor plans, 
the latest Care Quality Commission inspection reports, photographic 
evidence, and data from Carterwood regarding SCCH and both operational 

Page 8



and planned care homes in the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council (WHBC) 
local authority area. 
 

10.14 The letter concludes that, out of 168 bedrooms, only eight meet the current 
market standards for accommodation. Consequently, the care home falls 
short of modern standards and operator requirements for high-quality care 
facilities, failing to adequately meet the needs of individuals requiring care 
in a registered care home. It is therefore unlikely that the care home would 
be re-registered in its existing form. Moreover, with the significant number 
of bedrooms requiring modernisation, this is not considered to be financially 
viable. The dispersed arrangement of the buildings on site is also sub-
optimal, since the provision of care across separate buildings is more 
challenging compared to a single or connected building. 
 

10.15 Further to the above, the Planning Statement provides a letter from JLL at 
Appendix 3 which sets out marketing evidence. The site was advertised on 
the open market from 18th October to 5th December 2023. All 12 offers to 
purchase the site were from residential developers or property companies, 
concluding that there was no demand for the site from the care sector. 
 

10.16 In summary, the existing care home is not fit for purpose, it is not suitable 
for meeting current needs for care provision, would not be financially viable 
for refurbishment and that, accordingly, there is no demand for the site to 
remain as a care home. Given this and the flexibility which is afforded in 
policy for the loss or change of use of a care home, it is considered that a 
residential proposal for the site would be acceptable. 
 
3. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area 

 
10.17 The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built 

environment. The NPPF notes at paragraph 131 that good design is a key 
aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live 
and work and helps make development acceptable to communities. 
Paragraph 135 further advises that decisions should ensure developments 
will function well, be visually attractive, sympathetic to local character and 
establish a strong sense of place. Paragraph 139 is clear that development 
that is not well designed should be refused, especially where it fails to 
reflect local design policies and government guidance on design, taking into 
account any local design guidance and supplementary planning documents 
such as design guides and codes. 
 

10.18 The National Design Guide (NDG) provides further details as to what is 
considered as constituting good design and states that good design 
involves careful attention to the context for places and buildings and hard 
and soft landscape (amongst others), and a well-designed place is made up 
of the following components: layout, form, scale, appearance, landscape, 
materials, and the details of the building. 
 

10.19 The above objectives are broadly consistent with Policies SP1 and SP9 of 
the Council’s Local Plan. Policy SP9 states that proposals will be required 
to have been informed by an analysis of the site’s character and context so 
that they relate well to their surroundings and local distinctiveness, including 
the wider townscape and landscape, and enhance the sense of place. SP9 
goes on to states that development proposals will need to respect 

Page 9



neighbouring buildings and the surrounding context in terms of height, mass 
and scale and also be of a high quality architectural design that creates 
coherent and attractive forms and elevations and uses high quality 
materials.  

 
10.20 Notwithstanding the above, this application is in outline form and as such 

reserves matters relating to appearance, layout and scale to a subsequent 
application. These elements are therefore not, and cannot, be fully 
assessed at this time. 
 

10.21 An indicative layout plan has been provided with the application to 
demonstrate that the site can accommodate the number of units proposed. 
The plan shows the indicative location of housing, accesses, parking areas 
and landscaping. 

 
The submitted details indicate that development could consist of 44 
dwellings, along with 28 apartments accommodated across two blocks. 
Whilst the layout is not being considered for approval at this outline stage, 
the proposed scale of development is generally acceptable. The indicative 
layout appears to relate well to the site’s character, context, and 
surroundings through its residential use and building heights, which align 
with the existing residential area, density and townscape. Moreover, the 
reserved matters stage presents an opportunity to improve upon the 
illustrative layout to deliver a scheme which accords with the high standard 
of design required to meet both local and national policy. 
 

10.22 In view of the above, it is considered that a good standard of development 
which respects the visual amenities and the character of the area can be 
adequately safeguarded with conditions at reserved matters stage, in 
accordance with the Local Plan and the NPPF. 
 
4. Residential amenity  

10.23 The NPPF at Paragraph 130 is clear that planning should be a means of 
finding ways to enhance and improve the places in which people live their 
lives. This means that authorities should always seek to secure high quality 
design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants 
of land and buildings.  
 

10.24 Local Plan Policy SADM11 provides the local policy framework for 
assessing the impact of development on the residential amenity and living 
conditions of neighbouring properties and aims to ensure adequate amenity 
for future occupiers of the proposed development. It states that proposals 
are required to create and protect a good standard of amenity for buildings 
and external open space in line with the Council’s SDG.  
 
Impact on neighbours 
 

10.25 At this outline stage it is not possible to fully assess the impact of the 
proposal on the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings, as no 
elevation drawings have been provided and the layout of the dwellings are 
currently indicative only. Notwithstanding, since the initial pre-application 
discussions, amendments have been made to the indicative layout to 
minimise the impact on neighbouring occupiers. In designing the indicative 

Page 10



layout, the applicant has had regard to the siting of buildings in relation to 
orientation and separation from neighbouring properties. Full consideration 
of neighbour amenity would be undertaken at reserved matters stage, 
following the submission of details relating to the layout, height, design and 
levels. 
 

10.26 In addition to the impact of the built development, the proposals have the 
potential to impact on residential amenities through operational impacts 
during the construction phase. The extent of the development is such that 
there is potential for noise and atmospheric pollution nuisance during the 
construction phases. Such impacts are normal, and to be expected, of 
these developments, but are also short-term impacts that only last the 
duration of the construction phase. 
 

10.27 These impacts can be managed and mitigated in line with best practice and 
can be secured through the implementation of a site-specific Construction 
Environment Management Plan (CEMP), which could accompany the 
submission of a reserved matters application or be secured by condition 
upon grant of a reserved matters. In addition, there is separate 
environmental health legislation which further safeguards the amenity of 
residents. 
 
Living conditions for future occupiers 
 

10.28 Policy SADM11 of the Local Plan requires, as a minimum, for all proposals 
for C3 dwellings to meet the Nationally Described Space Standard (NDSS), 
unless it can be robustly demonstrated that this would not be feasible or 
viable. The NDSS outline the minimum requirements for floor space and 
storage for new dwellings. Moreover, there is an expectation that all 
dwellings will benefit from private rear amenity gardens which meet local 
and national guidance by being functional and useable in terms of their 
width, depth, shape and orientation. 
 

10.29 Detailed floor and elevation plans have not been submitted as part of this 
outline application since design and appearance are matters that are 
reserved for a subsequent application. As such, at this outline stage it is not 
possible to fully assess the living conditions of future occupiers. 
 

10.30 Turning to amenity space, this is shown on the submitted indicative layout. 
Officers are satisfied that a good standard of amenity can be achieved 
when layout is considered under a reserved matters application.  
 

10.31 In terms of noise and vibration, regard should be had to Policy SADM18. 
This policy sets out that development proposals should ensure that pollution 
would not have an unacceptable impact on human health, general amenity, 
critical environmental assets or the wider natural environment. A Noise and 
Vibration Impact Assessment is required for proposals with the potential to 
cause disturbance to people or the natural environment due to noise and/or 
vibration and for proposals that are considered to be sensitive to noise 
and/or vibration.  
 

10.32 Whilst the proposed residential use is not likely to cause any adverse 
impacts, the latter is of relevance to this application. The application site is 
located adjacent to Hatfield Leisure Centre and astro pitches to the north 

Page 11



and Oxlease House, a children’s day nursery to the north-east. This is likely 
to create noise to future occupiers of the development and therefore the 
impacts must be considered.  
 

10.33 A noise impact assessment has been submitted in support of the 
application. There are several noise sources that have the potential to 
impact the proposed site as detailed above. The Council’s Environmental 
Health Officer has commented on the application, agreeing that the 
proposed mitigation measures should be implemented and are to be 
secured via a condition. Moreover, the Council’s Environmental Health 
Officer has recommended a condition for the submission of a validation 
report prior to occupation to confirm that the mitigation measures have been 
installed and are effective. 
 

10.34 In summary, further details will be required at the reserved matters stage to 
ensure that there will be no significant harm to neighbour amenity and a 
good level of amenity is provided for future occupants in accordance with 
Local Plan Polices, the Supplementary Design Guidance and the relevant 
paragraphs of the NPPF. 

 
5. Highways and parking considerations 

 
10.35 The National Planning Policy Framework is clear that transport policies 

have an important role to play in facilitating sustainable development with 
encouragement provided to sustainable modes of transport to reduce 
reliance on the private car and to achieve safe and suitable access to the 
site. 

10.36 Paragraph 114 of the NPPF states that developments should ensure “safe 
and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users”, and that 
“appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be – 
or have been – taken up”. It references the new National Model Design 
Code, of which key quotes include: “New development should contribute to 
the creation of well-lit, direct and overlooked pedestrian and cycle routes” 
and “all streets should be accessible to all members of the community” 
(paragraph 59 part 1); plus “walking and cycling should be the first choice 
for short local journeys, particularly those of 5 miles or less” (paragraph 33 
part 2). 
 

10.37 Paragraph 115 of the NPPF states that “Development should only be 
prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts 
on the road network would be severe”. 
 

10.38 Paragraph 116 goes on to states that “Within this context, applications for 
development should, amongst other things: 
 

1. give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the 
scheme and with neighbouring areas; and second – so far as 
possible – to facilitating access to high quality public transport, with 
layouts that maximise the catchment area for bus or other public 
transport services, and appropriate facilities that encourage public 
transport use; 

Page 12



2. address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility in 
relation to all modes of transport; 

3. create places that are safe, secure and attractive – which minimise 
the scope for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, 
avoid unnecessary street clutter, and respond to local character and 
design standards; 

4. allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and 
emergency vehicles; and 

10.39 Policy SADM2 of the Local Plan concerns the highway network and safety 
and is broadly consistent with the NPPF. It states that development 
proposals will be permitted provided there would be no negative impacts on 
highway safety, they are designed to allow safe and suitable means of 
access and site operation and they provide satisfactory and suitable levels 
of parking. 
 

10.40 Access and layout are matters reserved for future consideration. 
Notwithstanding, an indicative layout is provided to show how an 
acceptable scheme could come forward. 
 

10.41 The primary access into the site is proposed to be from the retained and 
adapted access off Drakes Way. In addition, a new access is proposed to 
the east of the existing access, which is offset from the T-junction opposite. 
 

10.42 The application has been supported by the submission of a Transport 
Statement, Travel Plan and Construction Management Plan.  
 

10.43 The County Council’s Highways Team have been consulted on the 
application and have reviewed the supporting documentation. In summary, 
the Highway Authority considers that the proposal would not have 
significant impacts on the highway networks, therefore presenting no 
objection, subject to contributions, conditions and informatives.  
 
Vehicular/ Pedestrian Access 
 

10.44 The Highway Authority have no objection to the proposed vehicular and 
pedestrian access routes. Nevertheless, access is indicative at this outline 
stage and will be subject to further detailed technical plans which are to be 
secured via condition at reserved matters stage and under a section 278 
agreement with the Highway Authority. 
 
Swept Path Analysis 
 

10.45 A swept path analysis is shown on submitted drawings demonstrating that a 
12.1m long Refuse Collection Vehicle (RCV) can enter and exit the site in 
forward gears. Both the Highway Authority and WHBC Client Services 
consider that this would be acceptable. 
 
Visibility 
 

10.46 Paragraph 5.3.5 of the submitted Transport Statement sets out that visibility 
splays of 2.4m by 25m will be provided to both access point off Darkes 
Way. The proposed level of visibility splays as shown on the submitted 

Page 13



drawings is considered acceptable by the Highway Authority and are in 
accordance with the current highway standards. Nevertheless, access is 
indicative at this outline stage and the visibility splays are to be secured via 
condition at reserved matters stage. 
 
Highway Safety 
 

10.47 A stage 1 Road Safety Audit (RSA) was conducted in connection with the 
site access arrangement off Darkes Way. The Highway Authority have 
reviewed the RSA which show no significant highway safety concerns. 
 
Trip Generation 
 

10.48 The applicant has undertaken a TRICS assessment to establish the likely 
level of trip generation as result of the development.  
 

10.49 The Transport Statement summarises the anticipated trip generation 
associated with the proposed development. It indicates that there would be 
a total of 78 and 60 person trips in the AM and PM peak respectively. This 
includes 33 car trips in the AM and 33 car trips in PM peaks hours.  
 

10.50 The Highway Authority is content with the TRICS report, advising that the 
predicted trips would not have significant impacts on the adjacent local 
highway network. 
 
Sustainable travel and accessibility 
 

10.51 The Local Plan seeks to achieve a sustainable pattern of development 
within the Borough with the emphasis on promoting the use of sustainable 
modes of travel and on improving safety for all highway users. Policy 
SADM3 requires development proposals to make provision for cyclists and 
pedestrians through safe, accessible and integrated layouts. 
 

10.52 The application site is proposed to incorporate suitable pedestrian and 
cycle routes throughout, as well as being well connected and located within 
one of the more sustainable locations in the Borough. Access to facilities 
and services in the centre of Hatfield is a short walk away, with Hatfield 
railway station sited an approximate 1.4 mile walking distance to the north. 
A bus interchange is also located next to the train station. The closest bus 
stops to the site are located on the northern and southern sides of 
Travellers Lane, approximately 0.1 miles away, which benefit from frequent 
bus services. There is also an abundance of footpaths in this location, 
providing adequate pedestrian access to services and facilities located a 
short walk away within Hatfield.  

 
10.53 As such, access to services and facilities from the application site would not 

entirely be restricted to the use of the private car, therefore promoting 
sustainable travel. 
 
Construction 
 

10.54 To ensure construction vehicles do not have a detrimental impact in the 
vicinity of the site, a Construction Management Plan (CMP) is required. The 
submission documents include a CMP (Odyssey, October 2024). The 

Page 14



Highway Authority have reviewed the CMP, and whilst it fulfils most of the 
requirements, further information is required to make it acceptable in 
highways terms. Accordingly, a condition for a revised CMP is required to 
be imposed at outline stage. 
 
Parking provision 

 
10.55 Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states that if setting local parking standards 

authorities should take into account the accessibility of the development; 
the type, mix and use of the development; the availability of and 
opportunities for public transport; local car ownership levels; and the need 
to ensure an adequate provision of spaces for charging plug-in and other 
ultra-low emission vehicles. 
  

10.56 The Parking Standards SPG use maximum standards that are not 
consistent with the NPPF and are therefore afforded less weight. In light of 
this, the Council have produced an Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards 
that states that parking provision will be assessed on a case-by-case basis 
and the existing maximum parking standards within the SPG should be 
taken as guidance only. The Council’s Interim Policy for Car Parking 
Standards outlines that the Council’s parking standards are now treated as 
guidelines rather than maximums. This means that higher or lower car 
parking standards than those set out in the SPG can be proposed and 
determined on a case-by-case basis taking into account the relevant 
circumstances of the proposal, its size, context, and its wider surroundings. 
 

10.57 In terms of parking provision, the SPG guidance suggests the following: 
 

1.25 spaces for each 1-bedroom dwelling 
1.5 spaces for each 2-bedroom dwelling 
2.25 spaces for each 3-bedroom dwelling 
3 spaces for each 4 or more-bedroom dwelling 
0.2 spaces per dwelling for visitor provision 

 
10.58 In applying the proposed residential mix, the guideline number of parking 

spaces would equate to 133.4 based on the following: 
 

16 x 1 Bed = 20 spaces 
40 x 2 Bed = 60 spaces 
12 x 3 Bed = 27 spaces 
4 x 4+ Bed = 12 spaces 
72 total units = 14.4 visitor spaces 

 
10.59 The indicative layout shows parking provision to include private driveways, 

communal parking courts and dedicated visitor bays, providing 
approximately 110 spaces across the site. 

 
10.60 Representations have been received regarding the impact on parking stress 

locally. The scheme is not yet at a detailed design stage and so information 
regarding the number of parking spaces per dwelling, visitor spaces, etc are 
not yet formalised, and so this impact will be fully assessed at the reserved 
matters stage when detailed drawings are submitted. It will be expected that 
adequate parking provision will be provided on site for the new residents of 
the scheme. 

Page 15



EV charging 
 

10.61 Policy SADM12 of the Local Plan states that appropriate provision should 
be made for vehicle charging infrastructure within new residential 
development. The NPPF at paragraphs 111 and 116 also seek 
development to provide charging facilities, as does the Northaw and Cuffley 
Neighbourhood Plan. HCC Local Transport Policy 5 requires all new 
development to provide EV infrastructure. While the Development Plan and 
NPPF support EV charging, the level of provision is not quantified. In terms 
of the Building Regulations, Approved Document S (Infrastructure for 
charging electric vehicles) aims to ensure that, where practicable, all new 
buildings and have EV charging points.  

10.62 The submitted Planning Statement confirms that electric vehicle charging 
provision will be provided to all houses within the curtilage of the dwelling. 
For the flats, charging equipment would be provided within the shared 
parking area. 

10.63 The provision of vehicle charging infrastructure for each residential unit is 
supported and will be assessed at the reserved matters stage. Where 
additional details in relation to EV charging infrastructure are required, or 
where there is justification to secure an enhanced provision beyond 
Building Regulations, this can be secured by condition imposed at the 
reserved matters stage. 

Cycle Parking 
 

10.64 Policy SADM12 of the Local Plan sets out that the type and quantum of 
cycle parking will be informed by the standards set out in the Council’s 
parking standards. The policy also requires detailed consideration of the 
siting, layout and design of cycle parking to ensure an attractive and 
coherent street scene is maintained. 

10.65 The submitted Planning Statement sets out that a bike store would be 
provided within rear gardens of each dwellings. For the apartments, a bike 
store is incorporated within the footprint of each of the blocks. Further 
detailed information with respect to cycle storage can be submitted at 
reserved matters stage. 

10.66 The proposal therefore accords with the cycle parking spaces as set out 
within the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan Parking Standards SPG (2004). 

10.67 Overall, subject to conditions, the development would not have a severe 
impact on the operation of the wider highways network to warrant the Local 
Planning Authority to withhold planning permission. The conditions 
pertaining to vehicular accesses, visibility, sustainable transport travel 
infrastructure, travel plan, car parking and cycle parking as set out within 
the Highway Authority’s response do not meet test set out in paragraph 55 
of the NPPF at this outline planning stage. These matters will form part of 
the reserved matters application, if necessary, will be controlled by 
condition in accordance with the NPPF. No objections are therefore raised 
in regard to the SPG Parking Standards; the Council’s Interim Policy for Car 
Parking Standards; Policies SADM2 and SADM12 of the Local Plan or the 
NPPF. 

Page 16



6. Other considerations  
 

i) Housing mix and density 
 
10.68 Policy SP7 seeks to deliver a choice of homes and to help create 

sustainable, inclusive, and mixed communities. To this end, Policy SP7 
requires proposals for 10 or more new dwellings to demonstrate how the 
mix of tenure, type and size of housing proposed has had regard to the 
Council’s latest evidence of housing need and market demand with the aim 
of meeting the various needs of different households, couples, families with 
children, older people and people with disabilities. The NPPF is broadly 
consistent with this.  

 
10.69 The most up to date evidence is found in the Technical OAN paper (June 

2019) which was produced in connection with the Local Plan examination. 
This states that the implied size of housing required (2013 – 2032) is as 
follows: 
 

1-bed  2-bed 3-bed 4+bed 

14% 23% 41% 22% 
 

10.70 The mix of unit sizes and types is reserved for future consideration up to a 
maximum of 72 units. Notwithstanding, an indicative mix of units is shown 
within the submission to help illustrate how the site could come forward with 
this quantum of development: 

 
16 x 1-bedroom (22%) 
40 x 2-bedroom (56%) 
12 x 3-bedroom (17%) 
4 x 4-bedroom (5%) 

 
10.71 The Technical OAN paper also sets out that the implied type of housing 

required (2013 – 2032) is 77% houses and 23% flats. The indicative layout 
proposes a mix of apartments, semi-detached and terraced properties 
comprising 44 houses (61%) and 28 flats (39%) out of a total of 72 units. 
 

10.72 In summary, whilst the proposed mix doesn’t closely follow the implied 
housing need set out within the Technical OAN paper, Policy SP7 is not 
intended to perform as a prescriptive policy requirement for each 
application but reflects the need across the borough across the life of the 
local plan. Additionally, the final mix will be finalised at the reserved matters 
stage, and the acceptability of the type of housing proposed can be 
assessed at this point. 
 

10.73 In terms of density, Policy SP9 sets out that proposals should respond to 
the character and context of the surrounding area, where appropriate 
densities (typically between 30-50 net dwellings per hectare) that combine 
the efficient use of land with high quality design are required. Higher density 
development will be encouraged in accessible locations, such as around 
transport hubs or town and neighbourhood centres, where this is 
appropriate. The NPPF is broadly consistent with this. 
 

10.74 Having regard to the requirements set out in Policy SP9, the indicative 
layout of the site provides a net density of approximately 48 dwellings per 

Page 17



hectare. This density would be towards the higher figure as set out within 
Policy SP9. Given the site’s location within the built-up area of Hatfield, the 
proposed indicative density is considered appropriate for the context. 
 

10.75 No self-build or custom housebuilding is required to be provided since the 
proposal is for less than 100 dwellings. Moreover, Policy SP7 sets out that 
as part of the overall housing target, around 5% of all new housing should 
comprise housing which is specially designed for older people and people 
with disabilities. Consideration should be given to this during the 
submission of a reserved matters application. 

 
ii) Affordable housing and Vacant Building Credit (VBC) 

 
10.76 As part of the overall housing target, a proportion of new homes built in the 

borough are to be for affordable housing. Policy SP7 sets out the basis for 
which affordable housing will be sought. An on-site delivery target of 25% 
affordable housing in Hatfield is required by Policy SP7. The on-site 
delivery target will be applied to the nearest whole number of dwellings, e.g. 
a development of 16 new dwellings would require the provision of 6 new 
affordable homes (where 5.6 is 35% of 16). 

10.77 Within the submitted Planning Statement, the applicant sets out that whilst 
Policy SP7 seeks a 25% affordable housing provision for sites in Hatfield, 
the NPPF does, however, support the re-use of brownfield land to 
incentivise brownfield development. 

10.78 The NPPF at paragraph 65 sets out that: 

To support the re-use of brownfield land, where vacant buildings are being 
reused or redeveloped, any affordable housing contribution due should be 
reduced by a proportionate amount. 

10.79 Footnote 31 of the NPPF goes on to advise: 

Equivalent to the existing gross floorspace of the existing buildings. This 
does not apply to vacant buildings which have been abandoned. 

10.80 Further to the NPPF, the Planning Obligations section within the Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG) sets out Vacant Building Credit (VBC) in more 
detail. 

10.81 With respect to VBC, the PPG states: 

National policy provides an incentive for brownfield development on sites 
containing vacant buildings. Where a vacant building is brought back into 
any lawful use, or is demolished to be replaced by a new building, the 
developer should be offered a financial credit equivalent to the existing 
gross floorspace of relevant vacant buildings when the local planning 
authority calculates any affordable housing contribution which will be 
sought. Affordable housing contributions may be required for any increase 
in floorspace. 

Where there is an overall increase in floorspace in the proposed 
development, the local planning authority should calculate the amount of 
affordable housing contributions required from the development as set out 
in their Local P plan. A ‘credit’ should then be applied which is the 

Page 18



equivalent of the gross floorspace of any relevant vacant buildings being 
brought back into use or demolished as part of the scheme and deducted 
from the overall affordable housing contribution calculation. This will apply 
in calculating either the number of affordable housing units to be provided 
within the development or where an equivalent financial contribution is 
being provided. 

The existing floorspace of a vacant building should be credited against the 
floorspace of the new development. For example, where a building with a 
gross floorspace of 8,000 square metre building is demolished as part of a 
proposed development with a gross floorspace of 10,000 square metres, 
any affordable housing contribution should be a fifth of what would normally 
be sought. 

10.82 Moreover, the PPG sets out the relevant circumstances in deciding whether 
a use has been abandoned. 

10.83 The Local plan does not have any specific policies contained within it 
surrounding VBC. Such a consideration would therefore fall to be assessed 
against the NPPF and PPG. 

10.84 In this instance, the proposed development would see a vacant building 
demolished (previous use as a C2 care home) and replaced by a new 
building (proposed C3 private dwellings). The submitted Planning 
Statement sets out that at the time of the latest Care Quality Commission 
inspection on the 4th May 2023, only 62 people (of the site’s 168 capacity) 
were resident at the care home, and only three of the five buildings were in 
use. The care home was subsequently rated as ‘Requires Improvement’ for 
safety and leadership. Occupation subsequently reduced to the point that 
the care home was closed in August 2023 and it remains vacant.  

10.85 As a result of the above, it is considered that the proposed development 
would represent ‘brownfield land’, with the proposal seeking to redevelop 
the site (demolish the existing buildings and replace with new). Taking 
account of the PPG, and having regard for the circumstances of the site set 
out above, it is considered that the building in question has not been 
abandoned. Moreover, it is not considered that the existing building has 
been made vacant for the sole purposes of re-development, nor is the 
existing building covered by an extant or recently expired planning 
permission for the same or substantially the same development. In this 
instance, VBCs are therefore considered to apply to this scheme. 

10.86 Turning to the amount of affordable housing contributions required from the 
proposed development and the proportionate amount this should be 
reduced by through applying VBCs. The formula for calculating VBC is as 
follows: 

Policy Compliant affordable provision x (net increase GIA / proposed GIA) = 
resultant affordable housing requirement with VBC applied. 

10.87 As this application is in outline form, the proposed Gross Internal Area 
(GIA) would be fixed by the later Reserved Matters application and so it is 
not possible to calculate the precise requirement for affordable housing with 
VBCs applied.  

Page 19



10.88 Notwithstanding, for the purpose of this application, indicative VBC 
calculations will be undertaken. The existing GIA equates to approximately 
54,000 square metres. The indicative scheme shows a very slight uplift in 
resultant GIA of around 4,014 square metres (58,014 square metres 
proposed in total). This would result in an indicative resultant requirement of 
around 1.2 affordable units once a VBC is applied. 

10.89 The resultant affordable housing requirement following VBC being applied 
(approximately 1.2 units) is to be secured through a S106 planning 
obligation. The applicant, within their Planning Statement, have set out that 
given the very small contribution of affordable housing that would be 
required once VBC is applied, it is highly unlikely that a Registered Provider 
(RP) would be interested in a very small contribution of on-site S106 
affordable housing. As such, the applicant requests that the S106 obligation 
should give flexibility to allow for an off-site contribution.  

10.90 In line with the NPPF and Policy SP7, the priority will be for affordable 
housing to be delivered on the application site. However, where it can be 
robustly justified, off-site provision or a financial contribution in lieu of on-
site provision may be accepted provided the agreed approach results in the 
delivery of affordable housing within contributes to the objective of creating 
mixed and balanced communities. In view of the circumstances set out 
above, in this case, there is no objection to a commuted sum in lieu of 
onsite provision. The commuted sum would be used to meet broader 
Council objectives to deliver affordable housing in the Borough, this sum 
would accelerate the delivery of much needed affordable homes. 
The commuted sum is to be agreed and secured via a planning obligation 
and will form part of the S106 Agreement 

10.91 In summary, the Council accept the principle of applying VBCs to the 
proposed development. 

iii) Accessible and adaptable dwellings 
 

10.92 The Local Plan at Policy SP7 seeks to secure a proportion of all new 
dwellings to be accessible and adaptable. The policy sets out that at least 
20% of all new dwellings on sites involving 5 or more new dwellings will be 
required to meet Building Regulations Part M4(2) standards for ‘accessible 
and adaptable dwellings’ (or as subsequently amended), the delivery of 
which should be distributed across market and affordable tenures. In 
addition, 1.5% of all new dwellings on sites involving 50 or more new 
dwellings will be required to meet Part M4(3) standards for ‘wheelchair user 
dwellings’. 

10.93 For both M4(2) and M4(3), provision will be rounded up to the nearest 
whole number. Furthermore, for the M4(2) and M4(3) standards to be 
applied, a condition on a planning consent must require it. 

10.94 The submitted application documents set out that the indicative site plan 
would allow for all 72 units to meet Nationally Described Space Standards 
(NDSS) and Building Regulations M4(2) space standards. This would be 
secured at reserved matters stage, once a final layout is confirmed. 

 

Page 20



iv) Landscaping and Trees 
 

10.95 Landscaping is important in order to protect and maintain, or ideally 
enhance, the existing character of the area and to reduce the visual and 
environmental impacts of the development. It is important that an 
appropriate balance between hard and soft landscaping is maintained, and 
the Council will aim to ensure that a proportion of the site frontage is 
retained as landscaped ‘greenery’ to reduce the visual prominence of hard 
surfacing and parked vehicles. 

 
10.96 The NPPF sets out at paragraph 135 that planning decisions should be 

sympathetic to local character, including the landscape setting. Paragraph 
136 acknowledges that trees make an important contribution to the 
character and quality of urban environments, and can also help mitigate 
and adapt to climate change. Planning decisions should ensure that new 
streets are tree-lined, that opportunities are taken to incorporate trees 
elsewhere in developments, that appropriate measures are in place to 
secure the long-term maintenance of newly-planted trees, and that existing 
trees are retained wherever possible.  
 

10.97 Policy SP9 of the Local Plan requires that the appropriate definition of 
spaces should be created or maintained through the siting, layout and 
design of routes, buildings, landscaping and boundary. These principles are 
broadly consistent with Policy SADM11 which states that the outlook and 
visual amenity afforded from within buildings and private/communal garden 
areas should be satisfactory, taking account of for instance, boundary 
treatments and landscaping. 
 

10.98 Whilst details of landscaping are reserved for future consideration, an 
indicative layout is provided to show how the development could come 
forward. The application is also supported by an Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment. 
 

10.99 The Councils Landscape and Ecology team have commented on the 
application. The landscaping as proposed is not considered acceptable, 
especially in relation to the area of open space, species proposed and the 
drainage strategy. Moreover, the Landscape and Ecology team are not 
accepting of the Arboricultural Impact Assessment and the suggested tree 
removals on site. They have advised that much more detailed information is 
required to be submitted to enable further consideration to be given.  
 

10.100 Whilst the above concerns are acknowledged, precise landscaping and 
arboricultural information will be subject to reserved matters to ensure high 
quality public space and landscaping is achieved, as well as the retention of 
appropriate trees. This can also be secured through condition at this stage. 

 
v) Ecology and biodiversity 
 

10.101 Paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
sets out that every planning permission granted for the development of land 
in England shall be deemed to have been granted subject to the 
‘biodiversity gain condition’ requiring development to achieve a net gain of 
10% of biodiversity value. Applicants for planning permission are required 
to make a statement as to whether the biodiversity gain condition will apply 

Page 21



if permission is granted. The applicant has confirmed on the application 
form that if permission is granted for the development to which this 
application relates, the biodiversity gain condition would apply. 
 

10.102 Paragraph 180 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising 
impacts on biodiversity and delivering net gains in biodiversity where 
possible. Paragraph 186 of the NPPF goes on to list principles that Local 
Authorities should apply when determining a planning application. It is 
stated within Paragraph 186(d) of the NPPF that “opportunities to 
incorporate biodiversity improvements in and around developments should 
be encouraged”.  
 

10.103 Local Plan Policy SADM16 seeks to conserve the biodiversity of the 
Borough and seek opportunities for enhancement to ensure no net loss of 
biodiversity. The Policy sets out that proposals will be expected to maintain, 
protect, conserve and enhance biodiversity, the structure and function of 
ecological networks and the ecological status of water bodies. All 
developments that are not otherwise exempt will be required to deliver a 
measurable biodiversity net gain of at least 10%. 

 
10.104 Herts Ecology have been consulted on the application. A Preliminary 

Ecological Appraisal (PEA) has been submitted (PJC Consultancy, 
September 2024) to support the application.  
 

10.105 Herts Ecology have advised that the site itself is of limited ecological 
importance, however Oxleys Wood Local Nature Reserve (LNR) is located 
60m east of the site, which is designated for its ancient woodland and 
deciduous woodland. Given the scale of the development and the habitats 
adjacent, Herts Ecology advise that a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) should be conditioned. 
 

10.106 A bat report has been submitted which outlines the results of emergence 
and endoscope surveys. No bats were seen emerging from any of the 
buildings, and no evidence of bats was observed during the endoscope 
inspection. Activity was generally low across the site. An informative is 
therefore advised in the unlikely event that bats are found during the works.  
 

10.107 An assessment of all trees within the site was conducted to determine their 
potential for bat roosting. The findings indicate that none of the trees were 
suitable, as they lacked features conducive to bat roosts. However, bats 
were observed during the surveys, mainly in the southern part of the site, 
indicating its value as a foraging and commuting habitat. To mitigate the 
impact of the development, the bat report recommended implementing a 
sensitive lighting scheme, which can be secured by condition. Additionally, 
the creation of new species-rich hedgerows and wildflower areas, including 
night-scented flowers, was suggested. These measures will be considered 
when the detailed landscaping proposals are assessed at the reserved 
matters stage. 
 

10.108 Demolition of the buildings should only occur between November and 
March so as to avoid the core hibernation period, should bats be present. 
The mitigation measures within the PEA should be followed in full, and also 
encompassed within the suggested CEMP condition. 

Page 22



 
10.109 The PEA considered that it was unlikely that great crested newts and 

reptiles will be utilizing the site. An informative is sufficient in this regard. 
 

10.110 It was considered unlikely that badgers will be utilizing the site, however the 
PEA also states that given the presence of the onsite woodland, mammal 
push throughs and mammal paths were identified onsite. The PEA 
recommends at S4.3.57 that a pre-works survey for badgers should be 
carried out onsite and within a 30m radius to ensure that no new setts have 
been established. This can be encompassed within the suggested CEMP 
condition. 
 

10.111 Birds next were found in B2 and B4. All wild birds, their nests, eggs and 
young are afforded protection and in general terms it would be an offence to 
kill, injure or displace breeding birds and their young. To reduce the risk of 
an offence being committed, Herts Ecology advise that the recommendation 
outlined in s4.3.50 of the PEA should be included in the suggested CEMP 
condition. 
 

10.112 Turning to Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG). BNG is a way of creating and 
improving natural habitats. BNG makes sure development has a 
measurably positive impact (‘net gain’) on biodiversity, compared to what 
was there before development. The site is considered to be major 
development due to the number of units proposed. A 10% BNG is therefore 
required. 
 

10.113 A biodiversity metric and BNG feasibility report have been submitted (PJC 
Consultancy, October 2024). 

 
10.114 The net gain report outlines that given the current proposals, it is 

anticipated that a 10% net gain cannot be achieved on site. It has then 
been advised that the proposals should be altered to include additional tree 
planting, and larger areas of grassland created across the site. Habitat 
creation on site should be the focus, however if this is not possible, Herts 
Ecology advise that an offsite location will need to be sought to deliver the 
surplus 5.34 units. 
 

10.115 Herts Ecology advise that the minimum requirement for determination has 
been provided. The biodiversity gain condition will apply to this application. 
BNG for this site is considered as ‘significant’ net gain due to the creation of 
medium distinctiveness habitats, and the enhancement to medium 
distinctiveness habitats. It is therefore advised that this significant net gain 
for the respective habitat units is secured via a legal agreement. Moreover, 
a Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) should also be added 
as a condition of approval. 

 
10.116 Overall, there is no ecological objection to the development, subject to 

mitigation measures, and no fundamental constraints associated with the 
BNG plans proposed for the development. Further detail will be required to 
ensure the recommendations of the ecological report are delivered into a 
coherent ecology strategy. A condition for a Biodiversity Gain Plan and a 
Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan will be imposed to ensure the 
delivery of a minimum of 10% net gain in biodiversity is to be delivered and 
secured for long-term biodiversity benefit. 

Page 23



vi) Flood risk and sustainable drainage 
 

10.117 The overarching aim of development and flood risk planning policy, as set 
out in the NPPF and Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), is to ensure that 
the potential risk of flooding from all sources is taken into account every 
stage of the planning process.  

10.118 Paragraph 173 of the NPPF seeks to steer new development to areas with 
the lowest probability of flooding from any source. Flood Zones are the 
starting point for this approach. The Environment Agency identifies Flood 
Zones 2 & 3 and all land outside those zones is in Flood Zone 1. The site 
lies wholly within Flood Zone 1 (least likely to flood). 

10.119 Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) are surface water management 
practises which aim to enable surface water to be drained in a way that 
mimics (as closely as possible) the run-off and drainage of a parcel of land 
prior to its development.  

10.120 There are a number of ways in which SuDS can be designed to meet 
surface water flood risk, water quality, biodiversity and amenity goals. Given 
this flexibility, SuDS are generally capable of overcoming or working 
alongside various constraints affecting a site, such as restrictions on 
infiltration, without detriment to achieving these goals. The overall design of 
SuDS schemes should take account of the principles set out in Policy 
SADM14 alongside other policies within the Local Plan. 

10.121 Paragraph 175 of the NPPF states that major developments should 
incorporate sustainable drainage systems unless there is clear evidence 
that this would be inappropriate. The systems used should: 
 

a) take account of advice from the lead local flood authority; 
b) have appropriate proposed minimum operational standards; 
c) have maintenance arrangements in place to ensure an acceptable 

standard of operation for the lifetime of the development; and 
d) where possible, provide multifunctional benefits. 

 
10.122 All applications for new development must demonstrate that surface water 

discharges accord with the principles laid out in the drainage hierarchy, in 
such that a discharge to the public sewerage system is avoided, where 
possible. The hierarchy is outlined within paragraph 56 of the PPG states 
that the type of sustainable drainage system will depend on the proposed 
development and its location, as well as any planning policies and guidance 
that apply locally. Where possible, preference should be given to multi-
functional sustainable drainage systems, and to solutions that allow surface 
water to be discharged according to the following hierarchy of drainage 
options: 

1. into the ground (infiltration); 
2. to a surface water body; 
3. to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage 

system; 
4. to a combined sewer. 

 
10.123 The PPG acknowledges that particular types of sustainable drainage 

features may not be practicable or appropriate in some locations, such as 

Page 24



the use of infiltration techniques from potentially polluting development in 
areas where groundwater provides a potable supply of water.  

10.124 In this case, the proposed SuDS seek to utilise attenuation tanks which are 
designed to manage excess rainwater and surface water runoff. They 
temporarily store this water during heavy rainfall and then release it at a 
controlled rate to prevent flooding and reduce pressure on drainage 
systems. These tanks are particularly useful in urban areas with lots of hard 
surfaces where water can't naturally soak into the ground. By holding and 
slowly releasing the water, they help protect homes, businesses, and the 
environment from flood damage.  

10.125 The reason for attenuation tanks being selected for the current indicative 
layout is due to the urban location of the site where densities are higher and 
as such large areas of open space are not available to provide features 
such as swales and SuDS basins. Moreover, infiltration rates are not 
currently available at the site and existing surface water sewers at and 
around the site suggests that the feasibility of infiltration systems may not 
be appropriate. Any future reserved matters applciation will require a 
ground investigation to examine existing groundwater levels and the 
suitability of the substrate to receive infiltration. A condition requiring these 
details has been suggested. 

10.126 Whilst the proposed drainage scheme is indicative at this outline stage, it 
does demonstrate a surface water management solution that reduces the 
surface water run-off from the site when compared to the existing situation, 
and shows that the proposed development does not result in an increase to 
the risk of flooding on or off site. 

10.127 The LLFA welcome the restricted discharge rate and betterment offered by 
the proposals, as well as the provision of permeable paving and rainwater 
butts. However, the LLFA commented that further consideration should be 
given to above-ground, open SuDS features before below-ground 
attenuation tanks are accepted in principle. 

10.128 Officers acknowledge that this is a requirement of the SuDS hierarchy, 
however, above ground features cannot be secured at this outline stage 
given that layout and landscaping are reserved matters. SuDS selection will 
need to be coordinated with the open space requirements for this 
development as part of the reserved matters application. As an urban site, 
there isn’t a great deal of space for swales and open ponds to provide the 
required attenuation, but, again, this can be subject to detail at the reserved 
matters stage. What is required at this outline stage is a balanced 
judgement having regard to local and national policy and guidance. In this 
case, Officers are of the view that SuDs selection should be controlled 
through condition and carefully considered at the reserved matters stage. 

10.129 Affinity Water, Thames Water and Hertfordshire County Council Lead Local 
Flood Authority (LLFA) have been consulted on the application. The latter 
two consultees originally raised concerns with the information submitted 
and had requested further information. The applicant provided additional 
information requested, and Thames Water have subsequently removed 
their objection. They have recommended a condition which is included at 
the end of this report. The objection from the LLFA still remains. This is 
discussed further within the planning balance section of the report. 

Page 25



10.130 Thames Water have confirmed no objection to the planning application with 
regard to foul water sewerage network infrastructure capacity, wastewater 
network and wastewater process infrastructure capacity. In the third 
paragraph of their consultation response, Thames Water states that the 
current surface water network cannot support the development’s 
requirements. This statement seems to contradict earlier comments in the 
same email. Additionally, it is unclear if these comments consider the 
proposed discharge rate, which will be significantly lower than the existing 
rate. Officers have requested clarification on this point. Nevertheless, the 
proposal includes a surface water management plan that reduces runoff 
from the site compared to the existing buildings. This plan demonstrates 
that the proposed development will not increase the risk of flooding either 
on-site or off-site and is therefore not considered objectionable in this 
regard. Thames Water has suggested the following condition, which further 
supports the view that they do not object to the development in principle.  
This condition, together with those suggested by the LLFA have been 
included in Officer’s recommendation.  

 
10.131 Affinity Water were also consulted, commenting on matters of water quality, 

water efficiency and infrastructure connections and diversions, concluding 
with no objection.  
 

10.132 Accordingly, subject to appropriately worded conditions to secure 
implementation of the drainage strategy, it is considered that the proposed 
development would be in accordance with Policies SP10 and SADM14 of 
the Local Plan and the NPPF. 
 
vii) Environmental Pollution 

 
10.133 Policy SADM18 of the Local Plan deals with environmental pollution, 

including contaminated land and soil pollution, air quality, and noise, and is 
consistent with the NPPF. 
 

10.134 The application has been supported by the submission of a Phase 1 Desk 
Study for contamination (Lustre Consulting, September 2024) and a Noise 
Assessment (Lustre Consulting, October 2024). 
 

10.135 The Council’s Environmental Health and Protection Officer has been 
consulted on the proposal, as have Affinity Water and Thames Water. 
 

10.136 The potential impacts of noise as a result of the proposal and the impact of 
existing noise upon the proposed development are discussed above within 
the residential amenity section of this report. 

 
Air quality:  
 

10.137 Policy SADM18 of the Local Plan sets out that prevailing air quality and 
potential impacts upon air quality arising from airborne emissions, dust and 
odour associated with the construction and operation of a proposal 
(including vehicular traffic) will be considered when determining planning 
applications. Proposals that would result in or be subject to unacceptable 
risk to human health and the natural environment from air pollution, or 
would prejudice compliance with national air quality objectives, will be 
refused. 

Page 26



 
10.138 Policy SADM18 goes on to further set out that an Air Quality Assessment 

that demonstrates how prevailing air quality and potential impacts upon air 
quality have been considered and how air quality will be kept to an 
acceptable standard through avoidance and mitigation will be required for 
major and minor development proposals that are: 
 

i. Likely, due to the nature of the proposal, to give rise to significant air 
pollution;  

ii. Within an Air Quality Management Area;  
iii. Within 50 metres of a major road or heavily trafficked route; 
iv. Within proximity to a source of air pollution which could present a 

significant risk to human health; and/or 
v. Particularly sensitive to air pollution due to their nature, such as 

schools, health care establishments or housing for older people. 
 

10.139 The proposal is not considered to give rise to significant air pollution (i), 
neither is the site located within an Air Quality Management Area (ii). In 
regard to criterion (iii), the site is not located within 50m of a heavily 
trafficked route. The proposal and site do also not meet with (iv) or (v) as 
set out above. 

 
10.140 The Council’s own air quality monitoring evidence clarifies that there are no 

exceedances against relevant air quality standards (based on particulate 
generation) in this area. This matter has been discussed through the Local 
Plan Examination and was agreed. The proposal would have a negligible 
impact on air quality. On this basis, there are no objections in this regard. 

 
10.141 In addition to the impact of the built development, the proposals have the 

potential to impact on residential amenities through operational impacts 
during construction. The extent of the development is such that there is 
potential for noise and atmospheric pollution nuisance during the 
construction phases. These impacts can be managed and mitigated in line 
with best practice secured through the implementation of a site specific 
Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) discussed above 
within the residential amenity section of this report. 

 
Contaminated land and soil: 
 

10.142 Policy SADM18 of the Local Plan concerns environmental pollution and 
states, amongst other things, that planning applications for proposals on 
land formerly used for industrial, commercial or utilities purposes, or land 
which is considered to be contaminated or potentially contaminated, must 
be accompanied by a preliminary Contaminated Land Risk Assessment. 
Moreover, proposals which, by their nature, risk contributing to soil and 
water pollution will be required to demonstrate how this risk will be avoided 
or mitigated to an acceptable level. 
 

10.143 The application is supported by a Phase 1 Desk Study for contamination 
(Lustre Consulting, September 2024) The Council’s Environmental Health 
Officer has reviewed the submission, agreeing that further investigation 
work is necessary to gain a better understanding of the potential 
contamination risks. A condition is recommended to be imposed to secure 
this through an invasive site investigation. Accordingly, subject to the 

Page 27



imposition of the above-mentioned condition, the proposal would not be 
contrary to Policy SADM18. 
 
Light pollution:  
 

10.144 Policy SADM18 of the Local Plan sets out that proposals that include 
external lighting schemes, including floodlighting, will be approved where it 
can be demonstrated through a Lighting Assessment that all of the criteria 
can be satisfied. 
 

10.145 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has commented on the 
application noting that the football pitches to the rear of Hatfield Leisure 
Centre include flood lighting. A condition is recommended for a light impact 
assessment to be carried out to assess the potential light impact on the 
proposed development. This assessment would then inform the layout of 
the development under a future reserved matters application. 

 
viii) Refuse and recycling 

 
10.146 The proliferation of bins can create a considerable amount clutter which in 

turn has a harmful impact upon the visual amenity of the streetscene and 
the character of the area, contrary to Policy SP9 of the Local Plan. 
Inappropriate storage of bins on the highway can also disrupt pedestrian 
and traffic movements contrary to the NPPF. Of particular concern is the 
potential for heavy and unwieldy bins obstructing the footpath as this could 
force people with sensory or mobility impairments, wheelchair users and 
those with prams or pushchairs into the road, putting them at risk of conflict 
with traffic.  

10.147 The National Design Guide (H3) points outs that “Well-designed places 
include a clear attention to detail. This considers how buildings operate in 
practice and how people access and use them on a day-to-day basis, both 
now and in future. They include: Local waste storage, management and 
pick up: Refuse bins for all the different types of collection, including landfill, 
recycling and food waste. They are accessible and well-integrated into the 
design of streets, spaces and buildings, to minimise visual impact, 
unsightliness and avoid clutter. Where refuse bins are required to be on a 
street frontage or in a location that is visible from a street, they are sited 
within well-designed refuse stores that are easy for occupants to use.” 

10.148 The submitted Planning Statement outlines that refuse collection will be 
from within the site. For the houses, refuse bins will be located to the rear of 
properties with residents dragging bins to the site frontages on collection 
day. For the apartments, a communal bin store would provided within 
appropriate drag distances. No further details are provided at this outline 
stage. 

10.149 The Council’s Client Services Team provided comment on the application. 
Further information was requested with respect to a bin store diagram for 
the apartments and a tracking diagram to show that the refuse freighter 
could manoeuvre around the turning head in front of plots 44-48. The 
applicant provided the further information requested with the Council’s 
Client Services Team advising that the requirements requested are met. 

Page 28



10.150 Further detail with respect to refuse and recycling would be secured at 
reserved matters stage, once a final layout is confirmed. 

ix) Minerals and waste management 
 

10.151 In relation to minerals, the site falls entirely within the ‘Sand and Gravel 
Belt’ as identified in Hertfordshire County Council’s adopted Minerals Local 
Plan 2002 – 2016. The Sand and Gravel Belt is a geological area that 
spans across the southern part of the county and contains the most 
concentrated deposits of sand and gravel throughout Hertfordshire. 

10.152 Whilst the site falls within the Sand and Gravel Belt, British Geological 
Survey (BGS) data does not identify any potential superficial sand/gravel 
deposits beneath the application site. Given the lack of deposits beneath 
the site, the Minerals Planning Authority does not have any mineral 
sterilisations concerns. 

10.153 Turning to waste management. Government policy seeks to ensure that all 
planning authorities take responsibility for waste management. This is 
reflected in the County Council’s adopted waste Development Plan 
Documents (DPDs). In particular, these documents seek to promote the 
sustainable management of waste in the county and encourage Local 
Planning Authorities to have regard to the potential for minimising waste 
generated by development. 

10.154 Policy SP10 of the Local Plan requires proposals to reuse and recycle 
materials that arise through demolition and refurbishment, including the 
reuse of excavated soil and hardcore within the site.  

10.155 The County Council’s Minerals and Waste Planning Officer has been 
consulted on the proposal. They have raised no objection subject to the 
imposition of a condition to secure a Site Waste Management Plan, prior to 
the commencement of development, which will allow for more detailed 
information to be secured. This has been recommended accordingly at the 
end of this report. 

x) Sustainable design and low carbon homes 
 

10.156 In June 2019 Welwyn Hatfield declared a Climate Change Emergency, with 
the aspiration of achieving net-zero carbon emissions by 2030. 

10.157 The NPPF, at paragraph 157, sets out the broad objectives that the 
planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a 
changing climate.   

10.158 Local Plan Polices SP10 and SADM13 seek to maximise opportunities for 
reducing carbon emissions; encourage the use of renewables where it is 
appropriate and consistent with other policies; and ensure that proposals 
are responsive to how the climate will change over their lifetime and 
minimise their contribution to the urban heat island effect. This is consistent 
with the environmental objective of sustainable development as outlined in 
Policy SP1 of the Local Plan and similarly in the NPPF. 

10.159 The indicative proposal seeks to provide sustainable and energy-efficient 
new homes. These will reflect (as a minimum) Development Plan objectives 
as well as Building Regulations requirements. 

Page 29



10.160 The application is supported by an Energy and Sustainability Statement 
which sets out in detail the proposed measures to minimise the level of 
carbon emissions arising from the proposed indicative development. 

10.161 Whilst the proposed measures provide strong positive contributions towards 
the Council’s ambitions to reduce carbon demand, the details in relation to 
energy and sustainability are only indicative. These matters will be 
considered further at the reserved matters stage in accordance with the 
aforementioned policies. 

xi) Environmental Impact Assessment 
 

10.162 The development is not contained within Schedule 1 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 
(the Regulations). The development does not fall either within Schedule 2 of 
the Regulations. Whilst the proposal is considered an Urban Development 
Project, as listed at 10(b) of Schedule 2, the overall area of development 
would be less than 5 hectares, would not include more than 150 dwellings 
and would not include more than 1 hectare of urban development which is 
not dwellinghouse development. Consequently, an EIA is therefore not 
required in this instance. 

7. Planning obligations 

10.163 The NPPF sets out that Local Planning Authorities should consider whether 
otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable through 
the use of conditions or planning obligations. Planning obligations should 
only be sought where they meet all of the following tests set out in 
Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as 
amended): 

 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 

 Directly related to the development; and 

 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 

10.164 The Council has not adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy and 
therefore where a planning obligation is proposed for a development, The 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010, which came into effect 
from 6 April 2010, has introduced regulation 122 which provides limitations 
on the use of planning obligations.   
 

10.165 Policy SP13 of the Local Plan relates to infrastructure delivery and its 
purpose is to ensure that settlements within the borough are supported by 
infrastructure that is accessible, affordable, and appropriate to the needs of 
the community it serves. This policy states, amongst other things, that 
developers will be required to contribute to the reasonable costs of 
enhancing existing infrastructure or providing new physical, social, and 
green infrastructure, required as a result of their proposals, through financial 
contributions.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



Hertfordshire County Council  
 
Financial contributions  

 
10.166 Hertfordshire County Council request that financial contributions are 

required to fund various Hertfordshire County Council projects in order to 
mitigate the impacts of the development. These include: 

 Primary Education (including Nursery Education) - £407,409 towards 
the delivery of a new primary school at HS11 and/or provision 
serving the development. 

 Secondary Education - £392,323 towards the delivery of a new 
secondary school at HAT1 and/or provision serving the development. 

 Childcare Contribution age 0-2 - £2,933 increasing the capacity of 0-
2 year old childcare facilities at Brightside Preschool in Hatfield 
and/or provision serving the development. 

 Childcare Contribution age 5-11 - £338 towards increasing the 
capacity of 5-11 year old childcare facilities at a new primary school 
at HS11 and/or provision serving the development. 

 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) - £69,140 
towards new Severe Learning Difficulty (SLD) special school places 
(WEST) for pupils aged 2 to 19 years old and/or provision serving the 
development. 

 Library Services - £12,754 towards increasing the capacity of Hatfield 
Library and/or provision serving the development. 

 Youth Services - £8,541 towards the delivery of a new centre in 
Hatfield or improving facilities in buildings within Hatfield where 
Services for Young People projects are delivered and/or provision 
serving the development. 

 Waste Service Recycling Centre - £5,659 towards the new provision 
at Welwyn Garden City and/or provision serving the development. 

 Waste Service Transfer Station - £7,590 towards the new provision 
at the Eastern Transfer Station and/or provision serving the 
development. 

 Fire & Rescue Service - £27,402 towards the expansion, or re 
provision, of Hatfield Fire Station and/or provision serving the 
development. 

 Highways/Transport - £494,064 towards Package 4 Hatfield-Woods 
Avenue / Travellers Lane Corridor included in HCC’s South Central 
Growth and Transport Plan. 

 Travel Plan Evaluation and Monitoring Fee - £6,000. 

Page 31



 Monitoring Fees - £340 per each distinct trigger point (based on the 
number of triggers which will be confirmed by HCC within the legal 
agreement). 

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council  

Financial contributions  

10.167 WHBC request that financial contributions are required toward indoor and 
outdoor sports facilities, public open space, play facilities and waste and 
recycling provision in order to mitigate the impacts of the development. A 
monitoring fee is also justified. Financial contributions are as follows: 

 Sports Halls - £31,266 towards 
maintenance/improvements/refurbishment including new flooring, 
lighting and heating at either Birchwood Leisure Centre, Hatfield 
Leisure Centre, University of Hertfordshire or Bishops Hatfield girls 
school. 

 Swimming Pools - £32,840 towards either of the following A) 
maintenance/repairs including new lighting, heating and flooring at 
Hatfield Swim Centre or the University of Hertfordshire, B) Towards a 
new swimming pool to be located within the borough as identified 
within the sports facilities strategy.  

 Indoor bowls - £854 towards maintenance/improvements to either 
Hatfield Bowls Club or North Mymms Bowls Club including purchase 
of new equipment and upgrades to the changing facilities 

 Adult Football Pitch - £1,822 towards either of the following projects - 
A) To improve the drainage on the football pitch at Welham Green 
Recreation Ground, B) Towards pitch maintenance and drainage at 
Birchwood Leisure Centre. 

 Adult Football Changing Rooms - £6,501 towards either of the 
following projects - A) Replacing the benches, redecorating and 
upgrading the heating for the football teams playing at Welham 
Green Recreation Ground, B) Towards maintenance/ upgrading the 
changing facilities at Birchwood Leisure Centre. 

 Youth Football Pitch - £4,393 towards either of the following projects 
- A) To improve the drainage on the football pitch at Welham Green 
Recreation Ground, B) Towards pitch maintenance and drainage at 
Birchwood Leisure Centre. 

 Youth Football Changing Rooms - £9,576 towards either of the 
following projects - A) Replacing the benches, redecorating and 
upgrading the heating for the football teams playing at Welham 
Green Recreation Ground, B) Towards maintenance/ upgrading the 
changing facilities at Birchwood Leisure Centre. 

 Mini Soccer Pitch - £655 towards pitch improvements at Hatfield 
Leisure Centre. 

Page 32



 Rugby Union Pitch - £6,576 towards pitch maintenance, drainage 
improvements and new floodlights at Roe Hill, Hatfield. 

 Rugby Union Changing Rooms - £15,642 towards 
maintenance/upgrading of the changing facilities at Roe Hill, Hatfield 
OR The University of Hertfordshire OR Welwyn Rugby Club. 

 Rugby League Pitch - £5,860 towards pitch maintenance, drainage 
improvements and new floodlights at Roe Hill, Hatfield. 

 Rugby League Changing Rooms - £15,862 towards 
maintenance/upgrading of the changing facilities at Roe Hill, Hatfield 
OR The University of Hertfordshire OR Welwyn Rugby Club. 

 Cricket Pitch - £5,449 towards new cricket wickets, nets, 
maintenance to the pitches at either North Mymms Cricket Club, 
Hatfield and Crusaders Cricket Club or Newgate Street. 

 Cricket Changing Rooms - £6,199 towards maintenance, 
redecorating, upgrading including new heating and lighting at either 
North Mymms Cricket Club, Hatfield and Crusaders Cricket Club or 
Newgate Street. 

 Sand Based Pitch - £11,164 towards either of the following A) Pitch 
maintenance and improvements at either The University of 
Hertfordshire OR Chancellors School (the only sand based pitches in 
the borough) or B) Towards floodlights at Chancellors School to 
allow them to play and train in the winter. 

 Sand Based Changing Rooms - £4,613 towards maintenance and 
improvements at either the University of Hertfordshire OR 
Chancellors School. 

 3G pitch - £5,232 towards either of the following A) Towards pitch 
improvements/maintenance/resurfacing at either Birchwood Leisure 
Centre, Hatfield Leisure Centre, the University of Hertfordshire, 
Hatfield Football Academy or Roe Hill, B) Towards a new 3G pitch 
located within the borough as identified within the Local football 
facilities plan and the sports facilities strategy. 

 3G Changing Rooms - £1,801 towards maintenance/upgrades at 
either Birchwood Leisure Centre, Hatfield Leisure Centre, the 
University of Hertfordshire, Hatfield Football Academy or Roe Hill. 

 Public Open Space - £8,193 towards a project to be confirmed within 
the vicinity of the site. 

 Play Facilities - £21,491 towards a project to be confirmed within the 
vicinity of the site. 

 Waste & Recycling - £6,744 for on-site provision of waste 
receptacles. 

 Monitoring Fee - Capped at £5,000 

Page 33



10.168 Other obligations comprise: 

 Vacant Building Credits (VBCs) and resultant affordable housing 
requirement, in lieu of 25% affordable housing. 

 Biodiversity Net Gain delivery and management/maintenance for 30 
years.  

 Management Scheme for internal roads, footpaths, open spaces, 
play spaces, and SUDs. 

NHS Contribution  

10.169 The NHS request a financial contribution of £120,384 to mitigate the 
primary health care impacts from the development. The projects would 
involve the relocation of Northdown branch GP surgery to the Highview 
development and reconfiguration or expansion of Potterells Medical Centre. 

Summary 

10.170 All s106 financial obligations are subject to indexation. At this stage, the 
total contributions requested by WHBC, HCC and the NHS amount to 
£1,757,271. noting that the figures are indicative and subject to change as 
they are based on the indicative number and type of residential units which 
have been provided by the applicant for the outline component of the 
proposal. 

10.171 These requested contributions are considered to be reasonable and to pass 
the necessary Community Infrastructure Levy 122 tests as the works are 
considered necessary to make the development acceptable, directly related 
to the development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to 
the development. 

10.172 The applicant and Council have entered into negotiations to address the 
points outlined above and a draft s106 agreement is currently being 
progressed. If the Development Management Committee resolve to grant 
planning permission subject of the completion of the s106 agreement, this 
document will be completed. 

10.173 The proposal, subject to the completion of a s106 agreement, would comply 
with Policies SADM1, SP7 and SP13 of the Local Plan, The Planning 
Obligations SPD and the NPPF. 

8. The planning balance 
 

10.174 Paragraph 11 of the NPPF outlines that decisions should apply a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, and, for decision-taking, 
this means (paragraph c) approving development proposals that accord 
with an up-to-date development plan without delay. 

10.175 Taken together, paragraph 11(d) and footnote 8 of the NPPF set out the 
circumstances in which housing delivery should be considered as a material 
consideration when dealing with applications. 

10.176 The Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan was adopted in October 2023 and is less 
than five years old. The adopted plan identified at least a five-year supply of 

Page 34



specific, deliverable sites at the time that its examination concluded. 
Therefore, in accordance with paragraph 79 of the NPPF, the Council is not 
required to identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable 
sites sufficient to provide a minimum of five years’ worth of housing for 
decision making purposes. 

10.177 However, the latest Government published Housing Delivery Test data 
(December 2023) which related to the period running from 1st April 2019 to 
31st March 2022 showed that Welwyn Hatfield delivered 57% of homes 
against its target, falling below the 75% threshold. Therefore, in accordance 
with footnote 8, the ‘tilted balance’ set out in paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF is 
in effect in this instance. With this in mind, planning permission should be 
granted unless “any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in 
this Framework taken as a whole”. 

Summary of adverse impacts 

10.178 In terms of adverse impacts arising from the scheme, the proposed 
development would result in the loss of a residential care home (use class 
C2). There are however no policies contained within the Local Plan which 
seek to protect existing care homes. Similarly, within the context of the 
NPPF, paragraph 11 and the ‘presumption’, there are no specific policies in 
the Framework which seek to favour or protect care use in the context of 
making the best use of sites and meeting the need for housing.  
 

10.179 Notwithstanding, the applicant has sufficiently evidenced that the existing 
care home is not fit for purpose, it is not suitable for meeting current needs 
for C2 care provisions, would not be financially viable for refurbishment and 
that, accordingly, there is no demand for the site to remain as a care home. 
Moreover, the C2 use has already ceased as explained earlier within the 
report, and as such, there is no current care home provision at this site. 
 

10.180 Given this and the flexibility which is afforded in policy for the loss or 
change of use of a care home, it is considered that a residential proposal 
for the site would be acceptable and only limited weight is attributed to the 
loss of a care home facility. 
 

10.181 A further adverse impact of the scheme is the outstanding objection from 
the LLFA. Officers acknowledge that a requirement of the SuDS hierarchy 
is to explore open SuDS features before below-ground attenuation tanks 
are accepted in principle, above ground features cannot however be 
secured at this outline stage given that layout and landscaping are reserved 
matters.  

10.182 SuDS selection will need to be coordinated with the open space 
requirements for this development as part of the reserved matters 
application. As an urban site, there isn’t a great deal of space for swales 
and open ponds to provide the required attenuation, but, again, this can be 
subject to detail at the reserved matters stage. What is required at this 
outline stage is a balanced judgement having regard to local and national 
policy and guidance. In this case, Officers are of the view that SuDS 
selection should be controlled through condition and carefully considered at 
the reserved matters stage.. In this case, Officers are of the view that SuDS 
selection should be controlled through condition and carefully considered at 

Page 35



the reserved matters stage. Therefore, on balance, it is considered that 
limited weight is attributed to the LLFA objection. 

Summary of benefits 

10.183 Benefits arising from the proposed development include the provision of 
housing within a highly sustainable site, biodiversity net gain, and economic 
benefits. These are considered in turn below:  

Housing: 

10.184 Paragraph 60 of the NPPF seeks to support the Governments objective of 
significantly boosting the supply of homes. To achieve this, the NPPF notes 
that it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come 
forward where it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing 
requirements are addressed and that land with permission is developed 
without unnecessary delay. 
 

10.185 The Council cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing 
sites and the current shortfall is significant. That said, the Council now have 
an adopted Local Plan which provides a plan-led and positive vision for the 
future and framework for addressing housing needs. The adopted Local 
Plan has identified opportunities on specific sites in and around the 
Borough’s towns and excluded villages to facilitate the delivery of 9,343 
dwellings between 2023/24 and 2032/33, and 13,400 dwellings over the 
plan period 2016-2036. Moreover, opportunities to meet the remaining need 
will be the subject of an early review of the Local Plan, and this review will 
determine additional sites to be allocated to meet the requirement for future 
years. This position outlines a clear and positive route to improving housing 
supply for the Borough in the short to medium term and that the Council are 
actively working towards achieving a five-year supply. 

 
10.186 As discussed earlier in this report, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council have, 

in recent years, fallen short of their targets for housing provision. The Local 
Plan allocates sites for housing in order to assist with housing delivery. The 
application site is not an allocated site and therefore represents a windfall of 
72 dwellings towards the Council’s targets.  

10.187 This proposal would be for a significant amount of housing but it is also not 
guaranteed when it would begin to contribute. The proposal would help in 
addressing some short-medium term needs but a developer would need to 
be found, applications for reserved matters prepared, assessed and 
approved, conditions discharged and groundworks undertaken. 

10.188 The calibration of the weight to be attached to this benefit is not an exact 
science and there is no prescribed methodology. In balancing all of these 
factors together the contribution to market housing in this context that the 
proposal would make attracts significant weight in favour. 

Site sustainability: 

10.189 The application site is located within the town of Hatfield. In Policy SP3, 
Hatfield is described as a medium sized town, with good accessibility, a 
town centre and a series of large and small neighbourhood centres, a 

Page 36



primary focus for new development which will help bring investment, 
regeneration, and economic growth. 

10.190 The site is considered to be located within a highly sustainable location for 
development, with access to a range of local services such as Highview 
Neighbourhood Centre, shops within Hatfield Tow Centre, primary and 
secondary schools, the University and an employment area in a close 
proximity. Sustainable modes of transport afford good connectivity to key 
local destinations, in particular bus stops are a short walk from the site, and 
Hatfield railway station that is sited an approximate 1.4 mile walking 
distance to the north. A bus interchange is also located next to the train 
station. 

10.191 Moreover, the proposal identifies opportunities to promote walking, cycling 
and public transport which will benefit future residents and the wider 
community.  Significant weight is afforded to the sustainable location of the 
site. 

Biodiversity Net Gain: 

10.192 The submitted documents demonstrate that whilst an on-site 10% BNG 
increase cannot be provided, the final layout of the site has not yet been 
detailed, and an off-site location for BNG could be utilised.  

10.193 The detail of BNG provision is to be secured by conditioned through the 
submission of a biodiversity gain plan, as well as through a S106 legal 
agreement. This attracts limited weight in the planning balance. 

Economic benefits: 

10.194 A number of economic benefits will arise from this proposal. These include 
the provision of jobs during the construction phase of the development by 
creating employment opportunities on site and indirectly supporting 
businesses through the supply chain. However, the economic benefits in 
terms of construction would be short-term and therefore limited. Local 
business would derive some long-term economic benefit from the future 
occupiers spending on goods and services, but this would also be limited in 
scale. These considerations therefore have limited weight in favour of the 
proposal. 

11 Conclusion 
 
11.1 Having regard to all the above, it is considered that the adverse impacts 

identified would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies the NPPF is taken as a whole. Planning 
permission should therefore be granted. 

 
12 Recommendation   

 
12.1 It is recommended that the Committee resolves to grant planning 

permission subject to: 
 

a) Completion of a satisfactory s106 planning agreement and the 
agreement of any necessary extensions to the statutory 
determination period to complete this agreement; and 

Page 37



b) The following conditions: 

PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS 
 
1. Approved Drawings 

The development/works shall not be started and completed other than in 
accordance with the approved plans and details: 

 
Plan Number Revision 

Number 
Details Received Date 

3425-DEN-ZZ-
XX-DR-A-1006 

B Indicative Site Layout 21 October 2024 

3425-DEN-ZZ-
XX-DR-A-1007 

A Indicative Site Layout In 
Context 1:1000 

21 October 2024 

3425-DEN-ZZ-
XX-DR-A-1008 

A Indicative Site Layout In 
Context 1:500 

21 October 2024 

23386_01  Topographic Survey 21 October 2024 

0010  Existing Floor Plans 21 October 2024 

3425-DEN-ZZ-
XX-DR-A-1000 

A Location Plan 21 October 2024 

PJC.1359.001 C Landscape Strategy Plan 21 October 2024 

20207-DS-002 A Foul Water Drainage 
Strategy 

27 November 2024 

20207-DS-003 A Drainage Strategy 27 November 2024 

24-166-005  Delivery Vehicle Access and 
Internal Manoeuvring Swept 

Path Analysis 

12 November 2024 

24-166-020  Bin Store Layout 12 November 2024 

 
2. Approval of Details - Outline 

Details of the appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale, (hereinafter 
called, the reserved matters) shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority before any development begins 
and the development shall be carried out as approved. 

 
REASON: The outline application as submitted does not give particulars 
sufficient for consideration of these reserved matters. 

 
3. Time Limit for Submission of Reserved Matters 

Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the 
local planning authority before the expiration of three years from the 
date of this permission. 
 
REASON: In order to comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act (As amended). 
 

4. Drainage Scheme 

Prior to or in conjunction with the submission of each reserved matters 

application, in accordance with the submitted FRA and SuDS Strategy 

reference FRA20207.1D dated 03 October 2024, detailed designs of a 

surface water drainage scheme incorporating the following measures 

shall be submitted to and agreed with the Local Planning Authority. The 

approved scheme will be implemented prior to the first occupation of the 

development. The scheme shall address the following matters:  

 

Page 38



i) Detailed ground investigations including infiltration testing in 

accordance with BRE Digest 365 (or equivalent). If infiltration is 

proven to be feasible, it should be used for surface water disposal.  

 

or 

 

If infiltration is proven to be unfavourable then Greenfield runoff rates for 

the site shall be agreed with the Lead Local Flood Authority. The post 

development runoff rates will be attenuated to the equivalent Greenfield 

rate for all rainfall events up to and including the 1% Annual 

Exceedance Probability (AEP). The discharge location for surface water 

runoff will be confirmed to connect with the wider watercourse network.   

 

ii) Full consideration of the SuDS hierarchy with preference for above-

ground SuDS for conveyance and attenuation, to be sized and 

designed to accommodate the volume of water generated in all 

rainfall events up to and including the critical storm duration for the 

3.33% AEP (1 in 30 year) and 1% AEP (1 in 100) rainfall events 

(both including appropriate allowances for climate change). Below-

ground attenuation shall only be used if above-ground features are 

not technically feasible.  

 
iii) Detailed designs, modelling calculations and plans of the of the 

drainage conveyance network in the: 

 3.33% AEP (1 in 30 year) critical rainfall event plus climate 

change to show no flooding outside the drainage features on any 

part of the site. 

 1% AEP (1 in 100 year) critical rainfall plus climate change event 

to show, if any, the depth, volume and storage location of any 

flooding outside the drainage features, ensuring that flooding 

does not occur in any part of a building or any utility plant 

susceptible to water (e.g. pumping station or electricity 

substation) within the development.  It will also show that no 

runoff during this event will leave the site uncontrolled. 

 
iv) The design of any basin will incorporate an emergency spillway and 

any drainage structures include appropriate freeboard allowances. 

Plans to be submitted showing the routes for the management of 

exceedance surface water flow routes that minimise the risk to 

people and property during rainfall events in excess of 1% AEP (1 in 

100) rainfall event plus climate change allowance.   

 

v) Finished ground floor levels of properties are a minimum of 300mm 

above expected flood levels of all sources of flooding (including any 

ordinary watercourses, SuDS features and within any proposed 

drainage scheme) or 150mm above ground level, whichever is the 

more precautionary. 

 
vi) Details of how all surface water management features to be designed 

in accordance with The SuDS Manual (CIRIA C753, 2015), including 

appropriate treatment stages for water quality prior to discharge. 

Page 39



 
vii) A detailed maintenance and management plan detailing the activities 

required and details of who will adopt and maintain the all the surface 

water drainage features for the lifetime of the development.  

  

REASON: To prevent flooding in accordance with National Planning 
Policy Framework paragraphs 173,175 and 180 by ensuring the 
satisfactory management of local sources of flooding surface water flow 
paths, storage and disposal of surface water from the site in a range of 
rainfall events and ensuring the SuDS proposed operates as designed 
for the lifetime of the development, and in accordance with the Welwyn 
Hatfield Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

5. Drainage During Demolition  

No development shall commence until details and a method statement 

for interim and temporary drainage measures during the demolition and 

construction phases have been submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority. This information shall provide full details of 

who will be responsible for maintaining such temporary systems and 

demonstrate how the site will be drained to ensure there is no increase 

in the off-site flows, nor any pollution, debris and sediment to any 

receiving watercourse or sewer system. The site works and construction 

phase shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with approved 

method statement, unless alternative measures have been 

subsequently approved by the Planning Authority  

  

REASON: To prevent flooding and pollution offsite in accordance with 

the Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan and the National Planning Policy 

Framework. 

 
6. Contamination 

No development shall commence until the following components of a 
scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site 
have each been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local 
Planning Authority: 
 
a) A site investigation scheme, to provide information for a detailed 

assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including 
those off site. This should include an assessment of the potential 
risks to: human health, property (existing or proposed) including 
buildings, crops, pests, woodland and service lines and pipes, 
adjoining land, ground waters and surface waters, ecological 
systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments.  

 
b) The site investigation results and the detailed risk assessment and, 

based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving 
full details of the remediation measures required and how they are to 
be undertaken.  

 
Thereafter, the development must not be carried out other than in 
accordance with the approved detail, unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Page 40



REASON: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future 
users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with 
those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors, 
in accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
7. Tree Protection 

No development shall commence until an Arboricultural Method 
Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Thereafter, the development must not be carried out 
other than in accordance with the approved statement, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Arboricultural 
Method Statement must include:  

 
a) A specification for the pruning of trees to be retained in order to 

prevent accidental damage by construction activities; 
 
b) The specification of the location, materials and means of construction 

of temporary protective fencing and/or ground protection in the 
vicinity of trees to be retained, in accordance with the 
recommendations of the current edition of BS 5837 “Trees in relation 
to construction”, and details of the timing and duration of its erection; 

 
c) The specification of the routing and mean of installation of drainage 

or any underground services within the Root Protection Area (RPA) 
and/or canopy spread of retained trees; 

 
d) The details and method of construction of any other structures such 

as boundary walls within the Root Protection Area (RPA) and/or 
canopy spread of retained trees; 

 
e) The details of any proposed alterations to existing ground levels 

within the Root Protection Area (RPA) and/or canopy spread of 
retained trees; and 

 
f) Provision for the supervision, by an appropriately qualified 

arboricultural consultant, of any works within the root protection 
areas of trees to be retained. 

 
REASON: To protect the existing trees, shrubs and hedgerows in the 
interest of maintaining the character and amenity of the area and 
minimising the impact of development in terms of ecology, biodiversity 
and climate change in accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield Borough 
Council Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
8. Construction Ecological Management Plan 

No development shall commence until Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) for biodiversity has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP shall 
include the following: 
 

Page 41



a) Pollution (dust) control measures which should include the erection 
of protective fencing to ensure no negative impact on the retained 
woodland to the southwest of the site.  

b) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.  
c) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.  
d) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working 

practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be 
provided as a set of method statements).  

e) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to 
biodiversity features.  

f) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be 
present on site to oversee works.  

g) Responsible persons and lines of communication.  
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 
i) Pre-works survey for badgers 
j) Schedule of demolition to ensure buildings are demolished outside of 

the core hibernation period 
k) Mitigation for bats, reptiles, great crested newts, and birds 
 
Thereafter, the development must not be carried out other than in 
accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To ensure sensible working practices which protect ecology 
on and adjacent to this site, in accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield 
Local Plan, and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

9. Contamination through Ground Works (Affinity Water) 
No development involving excavations (excluding demolition and those 
required for investigation) shall commence until the following has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with Affinity Water:  
 
a) An Intrusive Ground Investigation to identify the current state of the 

site and appropriate techniques to avoid displacing any shallow 
contamination to a greater depth, including sampling for bromate 
presence.  

 
b) A Remediation Strategy/Report if found to be needed following the 

results of the intrusive investigation detailing how contamination (if 
found) will be dealt with. The remediation strategy shall be 
implemented as approved with a robust pre and post monitoring plan 
to determine its effectiveness.  

 
c) A Risk Assessment identifying both the aquifer and the abstraction 

point as a potential receptor of contamination, and an assessment 
for bromate plume disturbance.  

 
d) A Foundations Works Method Statement and Risk Assessment 

detailing the depth and type of excavations (e.g. piling) to be 
undertaken including mitigation measures (e.g. turbidity monitoring, 
appropriate piling design, off site monitoring boreholes etc.) to 
prevent or minimise any potential migration of pollutants including 
bromate to a public water supply. Any excavations must be 

Page 42



undertaken in accordance with the terms of the approved method 
statement.  

 
e) Acknowledgement of the need to notify Affinity Water of excavation 

works 15 days before commencement in order to implement 
enhanced monitoring at the public water supply abstraction and to 
plan for potential interruption of service with regards to water supply  

 
Thereafter, the development must not be carried out other than in 
accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To avoid mobilising any contamination including bromate in 
the aquifer and to prevent and/or minimise any potential migration of 
pollutants to a public water supply abstraction, in accordance with the 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

10. Surface Water Drainage Scheme (Affinity Water) 
No development shall commence until a Surface Water Drainage 
Scheme demonstrating appropriate use of sustainable urban drainage 
systems that prevent the mobilisation of any contaminants ensuring 
protection of surface and groundwater the following has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with Affinity Water. Thereafter, the development must not 
be carried out other than in accordance with the approved details, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
REASON: To avoid mobilising any contamination including bromate in 
the aquifer and to prevent and/or minimise any potential migration of 
pollutants to a public water supply abstraction, in accordance with the 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
11. Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP) 

No development shall commence until a Site Waste Management Plan 
(SWMP) for the site has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
and approved in consultation with the Waste Planning Authority. The 
SWMP should aim to reduce the amount of waste produced on site and 
should contain information including estimated types and quantities of 
waste to arise from construction and waste management actions for 
each waste type.  
 
Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved SWMP, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
REASON: To promote the sustainable management of waste arisings 
and contribution towards resource efficiency, in accordance with the 
Hertfordshire Waste Core Strategy, the Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document (2012), the Welwyn Hatfield 
Borough Council Local Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

Page 43



12. Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP)  
No development shall commence until a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The Construction Traffic Management Plan 
shall include details of: 
 
a) Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing. 
b) Traffic management requirements. 
c) Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for 

car parking); 
d) Siting and details of wheel washing facilities. 
e) Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public 

highway. 
f) Timing of construction activities to avoid school pick up/drop off 

times. 
g) Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of 

construction activities; and 
h) Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and 

temporary access to the public highway 
 
Thereafter the construction of the development shall only be carried out 
in accordance with the approved plan, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of 
the public highway and rights of way; to protect the living conditions of 
neighbouring properties, in accordance with Hertfordshire’s Local 
Transport Plan; the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan; and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
13. Crossing onto Travellers Lane 

No development shall commence until detailed engineering designs of a 
safe and secure crossing for pedestrians and cyclists on Travellers Lane 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority. These works shall 
be implemented in accordance with the approved details, and 
constructed to the specification of the Highway Authority and Local 
Planning Authority’s satisfaction and completed before first occupation 
of the development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To ensure residents and visitors of the development have the 
realistic option of travelling by local bus routes, and not a reliance on the 
private motorcar, in accordance with Hertfordshire’s Local Transport 
Plan; the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan; and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

14. Bus Stops Upgrade 
No development shall commence until details of a scheme to upgrade 
the closest existing bus stops on Travellers Lane, to include bus shelters 
with real time information display screens, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with 
the Highway Authority. These works shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details, and constructed to the 

Page 44



specification of the Highway Authority and Local Planning Authority’s 
satisfaction and completed before first occupation of the development, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To ensure residents and visitors of the development have the 
realistic option of travelling by local bus routes, and not a reliance on the 
private motorcar, in accordance with Hertfordshire’s Local Transport 
Plan; the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan; and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
15. Provision of Tactile Crossings on existing access point 

No development shall commence until details of a scheme to provide 
tactile paving crossings has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Highway 
Authority, for the following junctions: 
 
a) At the junction of Kingsmill Court and Drakes Way 
b) At the junction between Allen Court and Darkes Way 
c) At the junction of Drakes Way near the house number 12 

 
These works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details, and constructed to the specification of the Highway Authority 
and Local Planning Authority’s satisfaction and completed before first 
occupation of the development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To ensure residents and visitors of the development have the 
realistic option of travelling by local bus routes, and not a reliance on 
the private motorcar, in accordance with Hertfordshire’s Local Transport 
Plan; the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan; and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
PRIOR TO ABOVE GROUND DEVELOPMENT 

 
16. Landscape Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) 

No development above ground level shall take place until a Landscape 
Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The LEMP shall 
include the following details:  
 
a) description of the objectives; 
b) habitat/feature creation measures proposed;  
c) timetable for implementation; 
d) maintenance of habitat/feature creation measures in the long term 
and those responsible for delivery; and  
e) monitoring programme and the measures required to adapt the 
LEMP should objectives fail to be met. 

 
Thereafter the LEMP shall be carried out as approved, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: The landscaping of this site is required in the interest of 
maintaining the character and amenity of the area, to provide ecological, 
environmental and biodiversity benefits, and to mitigate the impacts of 

Page 45



climate change in accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 
Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
PRIOR TO OCCUPATION 
 
17. Contamination Verification Report 

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, and 
following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the 
remediation carried out must be produced, together with any necessary 
monitoring and maintenance programme and copies of any waste 
transfer notes relating to exported and imported soils shall, be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The approved monitoring 
and maintenance programme shall be implemented, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
REASON: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future 
users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with 
those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors, in 
accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
18. Sound Insulation Pre-Occupation Testing 

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, a 
noise verification report (including pre completion noise testing) must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
The noise verification report must demonstrate the following: 
 
That the recommended noise mitigation measures in the Noise 
Assessment by Leisure Consulting, Report Ref: 5064_AC_1.0, have 
been installed and implemented, including the adoption of good acoustic 
design. 
 
Noise tests must show that indoor ambient noise levels in living rooms 
and bedrooms meet the standards within BS 8233:2014. Internal LAmax 
levels should not exceed 45dB more than ten times a night in bedrooms. 
 
Noise testing must show that outdoor amenity areas comply with the 
55dB WHO Community Noise Guideline Level, if outdoor amenity areas 
cannot comply, then it must be shown through testing that a suitable 
place is available within 5 minutes walk from the development that 
complies with the amenity noise level. 
 
Noise testing must show that noise from commercial sources (all 
commercial noise from Hatfield Leisure Centre) at the facades that 
include habitable rooms, does not exceed the background noise levels 
(LA90) by more than 5dB in relation to BS4142: 2014+A1:2019. 
 
Testing must take place at the properties that would be worst affected 
by the commercial noise sources, as in the closest properties to the 

Page 46



noise sources. Testing must also take place for a suitable period so 
representative noise levels can be recorded. 
 
Non-compliance with these levels will require additional mitigation 
measures to be incorporated into the development, prior to the 
occupation of the development and that additional work, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
before the development is occupied. 

 
REASON: To protect the occupants of the development from noise 
disturbance and secure a high standard of design and amenity in 
accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
19. External Lighting Impact 

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, a 
lighting impact assessment must be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
The assessment must look at the impact from the flood lighting at the 
football pitches at Hatfield Leisure Centre and how this will affect the 
proposed development. 
 
The submission must include vertical lux diagrams and horizontal light 
spill which show potential light trespass into windows of the proposed 
residential properties. 

 
REASON: To protect the occupants of the development from noise 
disturbance and secure a high standard of design and amenity in 
accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
20. External Lighting Scheme  

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, details 
of external lighting must be submitted to an approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
The external lighting scheme must meet the requirements within the 
Institution of Lighting Professionals guidance notes for the reduction of 
obtrusive lighting, and should be designed to minimise light spill, in 
particular directing light away from any boundary vegetation / trees to 
enable dark corridors to be used by wildlife as well as directing lighting 
away from potential roost / nesting sites. 
 
This scheme should also accurately identify the features/areas of 
interest, describe levels of illumination prior to, during, and post-
development, and should be shown in suitable contour plans and charts 
so that it can be clearly demonstrated that lit areas will not compromise 
existing use. Proposed lighting should accord with best practice (Bats 
and Artificial Lighting at Night 08/23) and maintained accordingly. These 
proposals should also be accompanied by a statement by an ecologist 
on how it achieves these goals. 
 

Page 47



The approved external lighting scheme must be installed prior to 
occupation of the development and maintained in good working order in 
perpetuity with the development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 
 
No further external lighting should be added, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To help create a safe place and assist with the reduction of 
the fear of crime; to protect the living conditions of future occupiers and 
neighbouring properties in terms of light spill, and to protect wildlife, in 
accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
21. Surface Water Drainage Scheme Verification Report 

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, a 

detailed verification report, (appended with substantiating evidence 

demonstrating the approved construction details and specifications have 

been implemented in accordance with the surface water drainage 

scheme), has been submitted to and approved (in writing) by the Local 

Planning Authority. The verification report shall include a full set of “as 

built” drawings plus photographs of excavations (including soil 

profiles/horizons), any installation of any surface water drainage 

structures and control mechanisms.  

 

REASON: To ensure that the development achieves a high standard of 

sustainability and ensure the flood risk is adequately addressed for each 

new dwelling and not increased in accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield 

Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
22. Surface Water Network Upgrades (Thames Water) 

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, 
confirmation will be provided that either:-  

 
a) All surface water network upgrades required to accommodate the 

additional flows from the development have been completed; or 
b) A development and infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with 

the Local Authority in consultation with Thames Water to allow 
development to be occupied. Where a development and 
infrastructure phasing plan is agreed, no occupation shall take place 
other than in accordance with the agreed development and 
infrastructure phasing plan. 

 
REASON: Network reinforcement works are likely to be required to 
accommodate the proposed development, in accordance with the 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

23. Habitat Management and Maintenance Plan 
The development shall not be occupied until a Habitat Management and 
Maintenance Plan (HMMP), based on the template published by Natural 
England and prepared in accordance with the approved Biodiversity 

Page 48



Gain Plan, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The HMMP shall include: 

  
a) a non-technical summary; 
b) the roles and responsibilities of the people or organisation(s) 

delivering the HMMP; 
c) the planned habitat creation and enhancement works to create or 

improve habitat to achieve the biodiversity net gain in accordance 
with the approved Biodiversity Gain Plan; 

d) the management measures to maintain habitat in accordance with 
the approved Biodiversity Gain Plan for a period of 30 years from the 
completion of development; and 

e) the monitoring methodology and frequency in respect of the created 
or enhanced habitat to be submitted to the local planning authority. 

  
The HMMP shall be carried out as approved, unless otherwise agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include details of 
measures to protect and enhance existing flora, fauna and habitats, as 
well as a plan to show species enhancements on-site reflecting 
proposals within the Biodiversity Gain Plan, to demonstrate that at least 
10% Biodiversity Net Gain will be achieved and managed on-site. 
   
REASON: The proposed habitats to be created are required in the 
interest of enhancing the character and amenity of the area, to provide 
ecological, environmental and biodiversity benefits, ensuring 
measurable net gains to biodiversity and to mitigate the impacts of 
climate change in accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield Borough 
Council Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
OTHERS 
 

24. Noise from Construction 
Construction deliveries, demolition and construction works, which shall 
include use of any plant or machinery, cleaning and maintenance of 
plant or machinery, deliveries to the site and movement of vehicles 
within the curtilage of the site, must not take place other than between 
the hours of:  
 
8.00am and 6.00pm on Mondays to Fridays;  
8.00am and 1.00pm Saturdays; 
and at no time on Sundays and Bank Holidays  
 
If noisy works must be carried out beyond these times, then an 
application must be made for consideration by environmental health 
under the Control of Pollution Act 1974 (Section 61 application). 
 
REASON:  To ensure that the development is undertaken in a manner 
which reduces any potential impact upon the residential amenities 
currently enjoyed by existing residents and businesses in accordance 
with the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 
 

Page 49



25. Phase 1 Desk Study 
The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with the Phase 1 Desk Study for contamination (Lustre Consulting, 
September 2024), unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future 
users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with 
those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors, in 
accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

26. Bat Emergence Survey 
The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with the Phase 2 Bat Survey Report by PJC dated September 2024, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To ensure sensible working practices which protect bats on 
and adjacent to this site, in accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield Local 
Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

27. Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 
The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal by PJC dated September 
2024, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
REASON: To ensure the survival and protection of important species 
and those protected by legislation that could be adversely affected by 
the development in accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield Borough 
Council Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
28. Noise Assessment 

The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with the Noise Assessment by Lustre Consulting dated October 2024, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To protect the occupants of the development from noise 
disturbance and secure a high standard of design and amenity in 
accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

29. Reporting of Unexpected Contamination 
If contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 

development that was not previously identified, it must be reported in 

writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority.  

 

An investigation must be undertaken in accordance with the 

requirements of condition 6, and where remediation is necessary, a 

remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of condition 6, which is subject to the approval in writing of 

the Local Planning Authority.  

Page 50



Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 

scheme, a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the 

approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with 

condition 17.  

 
REASON: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future 
users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with 
those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors, in 
accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
30. Unexpected Contamination (Affinity Water 

If contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
development that was not previously identified, then no further 
development shall be carried out until the following has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with Affinity Water: 
 
a) Remediation Strategy/Report detailing how contamination will be 

dealt with. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as 
approved with a robust pre and post monitoring plan to determine its 
effectiveness. 

REASON: To ensure that the development does not contribute to 
unacceptable concentrations of pollution posing a risk to public water 
supply from previously unidentified contamination sources at the 
development site and to prevent deterioration of groundwater and/or 
surface water, in accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 
Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT 
 

The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a 
decision contrary to the development plan. 
 

 INFORMATIVES 
 

1. Biodiversity Net Gain Condition  
  Development may not be begun unless:  

a) a biodiversity gain plan has been submitted to the planning 
authority, and  
b) the planning authority has approved the plan.  

  
REASON: To ensure compliance with Schedule 7A of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (inserted by the Environment Act 2021). 

 
2. BNG Informative 

Biodiversity net gain is a way of creating and improving biodiversity by 
requiring development to have a positive impact (‘net gain’) on 
biodiversity.  

Page 51



  
In England, biodiversity net gain is required under a statutory 
framework introduced by Schedule 7A of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (inserted by the Environment Act 2021). This 
statutory framework is referred to as ‘biodiversity net gain’ in Planning 
Practice Guidance to distinguish it from other or more general 
biodiversity gains.  
  
Under the statutory framework for biodiversity net gain, subject to some 
exceptions, every grant of planning permission is deemed to have been 
granted subject to the condition that the biodiversity gain objective is 
met ("the Biodiversity Gain Condition"). This objective is for 
development to deliver at least a 10% increase in biodiversity value 
relative to the pre-development biodiversity value of the onsite habitat. 
This increase can be achieved through onsite biodiversity gains, 
registered offsite biodiversity gains or statutory biodiversity credits.  
  
The biodiversity gain condition (as set out above at the end of this 
decision notice) is a pre-commencement condition: once planning 
permission has been granted, a Biodiversity Gain Plan must be 
submitted to and approved by Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council (the 
local planning authority) before commencement of the development. 
There are exemptions, transitional arrangements and requirements 
relating to irreplaceable habitat which disapply the condition from 
certain planning permissions, as well as special modifications for 
planning permissions for phased development and the treatment of 
irreplaceable habitats.  
  
In the opinion of the local planning authority, the approved development 
is engaged by paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, is subject to the statutory Biodiversity Gain 
Condition and none of the statutory exemptions or transitional 
arrangements are considered to apply. 

  
  The effect of section 73D of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990  
  

If planning permission is granted on an application made under section 
73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (application to develop 
land without compliance with conditions previously attached) and a 
Biodiversity Gain Plan was approved in relation to the previous planning 
permission ("the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan") there are 
circumstances when the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan is regarded as 
approved for the purpose of discharging the biodiversity gain condition 
subject to which the section 73 planning permission is granted.  
  
Those circumstances are that the conditions subject to which the 
section 73 permission is granted:  

  
i. do not affect the post-development value of the onsite habitat as 

specified in the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan, and  
ii. in the case of planning permission for a development where all or 

any part of the onsite habitat is irreplaceable habitat the conditions 
do not change the effect of the development on the biodiversity of 
that onsite habitat (including any arrangements made to 

Page 52



compensate for any such effect) as specified in the earlier 
Biodiversity Gain Plan.  

  
  Advice on information required to discharge Biodiversity Gain Condition  
  

A Biodiversity Gain Plan to secure at least 10% increase in biodiversity 
value relative to the pre-development biodiversity value of the onsite 
habitat as per the statutory condition as set out on this Decision Notice 
must be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and approved before 
the development can commence. In order to discharge the condition, 
the following information will be required:  

  
-details of purchase and monitoring of the offsite biodiversity units, a 
biodiversity metric for the site, costings and evidence of appropriate 
legal agreements to guarantee delivery of ongoing habitat management 
requirements specifically:  

  
i. Identification of receptor site or sites with associated plans;  
ii. Details of the offsetting requirements of the development in 

accordance with current DEFRA biodiversity metric;  
iii. The provision of evidence of arrangements to secure the delivery of 

offsetting measures, including a timetable of delivery; and  
iv. A Management and Monitoring Plan, to include for the provision 

and maintenance of the offsetting measures for a period of not less 
than 30 years from the commencement of the scheme and itself to 
include:  

  
a) Description of all habitat(s) to be created / restored / enhanced 

within the scheme including expected management condition and 
total area;  

b) Review of Ecological constraints;  
c) Current soil conditions of any areas designated for habitat creation 

and detailing of what conditioning must occur to the soil prior to 
the commencement of habitat creation works;  

d) Detailed design and working methods (management prescriptions) 
to achieve proposed habitats and management conditions, 
including extent and location of proposed works;  

e) Type and source of materials to be used, including species list for 
all proposed planting and abundance of species within any 
proposed seed mix;  

f) Identification of persons responsible for implementing the works;  
g) A timetable of ecological monitoring to assess the success of all 

habitats creation / enhancement.  
h) The inclusion of a feedback mechanism to the Local Planning 

Authority, allowing for the alteration of working methods / 
management prescriptions, should the monitoring deem it 
necessary.  

i) Evidence that appropriate arrangements are in place to ensure the 
Council is funded to monitor the proposed biodiversity gain from 
the site(s) proposed over a period of 30 years. This would 
normally be in the form of a freestanding S106 agreement with a 
biodiversity provider which has already secured on-going 
monitoring contributions for the Council.  

 

Page 53



3. Other Legislation 
This permission does not convey any consent which may be required 
under any legislation other than the Town and Country Planning Acts. 
Any permission required under the Building Regulations or under any 
other Act, must be obtained from the relevant authority or body e.g. Fire 
Officer, Health and Safety Executive, Environment Agency (water 
interest etc.) Neither does this permission negate or override any 
private covenants or legal interest (easements or wayleaves) which 
may affect the land. 

 
4. Ownership 

The granting of this permission does not convey or imply any consent to 
build upon or access from any land not within the ownership of the 
applicant. 

 
5. Statutory Consultee Advice 

The developer is advised to have regard to the representations received 
from statutory consultees which include advisory information and 
informatives. 

 
6. Building Control 

In addition, and separate to your planning permission, for the majority of 
schemes, you are required by law to appoint a building regulator who 
will inspect your property at various stages during the course of your 
building project.  This is to ensure it is compliant with the Building 
Regulations and the Building Act 1984.    
 
The checks the building regulator will carry out include, but are not 
limited to, the structure, foundations, fire precautions and escape 
routes, electrical and plumbing compliance and other issues such as 
drainage and insulation.  The objective of these checks is to ensure that 
your building is safe to live in, accessible and environmentally 
sustainable.   
 
Once all build stages are checked and the works are finished, a 
Completion Certificate is issued confirming that these objectives have 
been met.  You will also need the Completion Certificate, should you sell 
the property, as it will confirm to future owners that the work has been 
carried out in compliance with the Regulations. 
 
As the owner of the property, you are responsible for Building 
Regulations compliance so we would urge you to decide which regulator 
to use, as opposed to leaving your builder or architect to make the 
choice.  This is so that you can be sure the building regulator is truly 
independent and working to protect you from any breach or omission 
during the works. 
 
Hertfordshire Building Control Limited are a Company wholly owned by 
eight local authorities in Hertfordshire including Welwyn Hatfield 
Borough Council.  Please contact them on 01438 879990 or at 
buildingcontrol@hertfordshirebc.co.uk to discuss the process and all 
that is involved.  Or alternatively refer to the Homeowner Information 
section on their website at www.hertfordshirebc.co.uk 

 

Page 54



 OR 
 

It is recommended that in the event that the applicant fails to agree any 
necessary extensions to the Statutory determination period, that powers are 
delegated to the Head of Planning to refuse planning permission on the 
basis of the absence of a completed s106 agreement for the following 
reason and subject to the application not being called in by the Secretary of 
State: 

 
1. The applicant has failed to satisfy the sustainability aims of the plan and 

to secure the proper planning of the area by failing to ensure that the 
development proposed would provide a sustainable form of 
development in mitigating the impact on local infrastructure and 
services which directly relate to the proposal and which is necessary for 
the grant of planning permission. The applicant has failed to provide a 
planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended). The Local Planning Authority 
considers that it would be inappropriate to secure the required financial 
contributions by any method other than a legal agreement and the 
proposal is, therefore, contrary to Policies M2 and M4 of the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan 2005. 
 

 Together with the above drawing numbers to also be included. 
 
Ashley Ransome (Development Management) 
Date: 09/12/2024  

Page 55



 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 
 

Page 56



 

 

 

Part I 
Main author: Jessica Fuller 
Executive Member: Councillor R. Grewal 

                                                                  (Hatfield) 
 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE –19 DECEMBER 2024 
REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (PLANNING)  
 
6/2024/1569/FULL 
 
HATFIELD MARKET PLACE AL10 0LN 
 
PUBLIC REALM ENHANCEMENTS INCLUDING NEW LAYOUT, LANDSCAPING, 
PAVING, PLAY EQUIPMENT, LIGHTING AND STREET FURNITURE. 
ALTERATIONS TO LAND LEVELS TO REMOVE THE BARRIER BETWEEN THE 
SHOPS AND THE OPEN SPACE FOLLOWING THE DEMOLITION OF THE 
EXISTING REDUNDANT MARKET TRADING HUT 
 
APPLICANT: WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
1 Site Description 

 
1.1 The application site is located in the centre of Hatfield, to the north of 

Queensway (B6426), and currently comprises of a mix of hard and soft 
landscaping which populates the fairly open public realm. A number of mature 
trees and other low-level forms of vegetation are contained within brick 
planters around the site. The perimeter is bounded by metal railings above a 
brick plinth. 

1.2 To the north, east and west of the site, the public realm is bounded by a two-
storey building containing independent retail units within Hatfield Market 
Place, with deck-access at first-floor level. A Public House is positioned to the 
north-east of the application site. To the south, the site is bounded by 
Queensway which is a busy B-road. It is a key transport corridor into Hatfield 
and forms the southern boundary around the core retail area of the town. A 
roundabout which provides connections with Link Drive and Woods Avenue is 
located to the south-west of the application site. There is also a bus stop just 
outside of the application site to the south. On the opposite side of 
Queensway is Link Drive, a relatively new development which consists of 80 
flats, parking and associated outdoor space.   

2 The Proposal 
 

2.1 The application seeks planning permission for public realm enhancements 
including a new layout, landscaping, paving, play equipment, lighting and 
street furniture. The proposal also involves alterations to land levels to remove 
the barrier between the shops and the open space following the demolition of 
the existing redundant market trading hut. 

Page 57

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 

3 Reason for Committee Consideration 
 
3.1 This application is presented to the Development Management Committee 

because the Assistant Director (Planning) considers it prudent for the 
application to be considered by Development Management Committee. 
 

4 Relevant Planning History 
 
4.1 The relevant planning history is summarised below: 

 
Application Number: S6/1982/0588/  
Decision: Refused  
Decision Date: 31 August 1984 
Proposal: Supermarket and 4 shops with first floor office and store and 
basement car park     
 
Application Number: S6/1986/0015/DC  
Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 13 February 1986 
Proposal: Environmental improvements to Market Place 
 
Application Number: S6/2004/0001/FP  
Decision: Approval Subject to s106  
Decision Date: 24 September 2004 
Proposal: Redevelopment of eastern end of Hatfield town centre, comprising 
demolition of existing buildings and provision of new mixed use development 
including new retail (a1, a2, a3, a4, a5), non resident institution uses (d1), 275 
residential units, new ‘market hall’, public realm and bus interchange, together 
with associated provision for access, servicing, parking (including multi storey 
car park) and landscaping. Partial retention of white lion house and retention, 
alteration and change of use of Kennelwood house. Temporary uses of site 
including; contractors compound, public car park, site accesses, and 
associated security fencing. 
 
Application Number: S6/2007/0282/AD  
Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 20 April 2007 
Proposal: Erection of 3 no. four paneled non-illuminated re-development signs 
located adjacent to the common car park, Kennelwood car park and  
Queensway house. 
 
Application Number: S6/2010/0136/MA  
Decision: Approval Subject to s106  
Decision Date: 11 April 2012 
Proposal: Redevelopment of Eastern End of Hatfield Town Centre, comprising 
demolition of existing buildings and provision of new mixed use development 
including new retail (A1, A2, A3, A4, A5), community meeting rooms (D2), 
office use (B1) or health use (D1), 94 residential units, 3 live/work units, new 
public realm, public toilets, taxi rank and bus interchange, together with 
associated provision for access, servicing, parking and landscaping 

Page 58



 

 

 

5 Relevant Planning Policy 
 

5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
 
5.2 The Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan 2016-2036 (October 2023) 

(Local Plan) 
 

5.3 Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 (SDG) 
 

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance, Parking Standards 2004 (SPG) 
 
5.5 Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes 2014 (Interim Car   

Parking Policy) 

5.6 Hertfordshire Local Transport Plan (2018-2031) 2018 

5.7 National Design Guide 2021 (NDG) 
 
6 Site Designation  

 
6.1 The site lies within Hatfield Town Centre and a Core Retail Zone, as 

designated in the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan 2016-2023. 
 

7 Representations Received  
 

7.1 The application was advertised by means of neighbour consultation letters 
and site notices. In total, 1 representation was received in support of the 
scheme. This is published in full on the Council’s website and is summarised 
below: 
 
Support in general but an issue was raised regarding the bus interchange in 
this location due to 4 separate stops being required for different routes, which 
does not encourage bus travel.   
 

8 Consultations Received 
 

8.1 The following consultees have responded advising that they have no 
objections to the proposal in principle, some of which are subject to the 
inclusion of conditions or informatives: 
 

 WHBC Estates 

 Hertfordshire Constabulary  

 Hertfordshire Rights of Way  

 Hertfordshire Ecology 

 Hatfield Town Council 

 Hertfordshire Transport Programmes and Strategy 

 Public Health and Protection  

 WHBC Landscapes  
 

8.2 No response was received from the following consultees: 

Page 59



 

 

 

 Hertfordshire Lead Local Flood Authority 

 Hertfordshire Building Control  

 Environment Agency 

 Hertfordshire Minerals and Waste Team 
 
9 Analysis 

 
9.1 The main planning issues to be considered in the determination of this 

application are: 
 
1. Principle of the development 
2. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area  
3. Residential amenity  
4. Highways and parking considerations  
5. Other considerations  

i) Ecology and biodiversity 
ii) Landscaping 
iii) Refuse and recycling  
iv) Public safety and security 
v) Flood risk and drainage 

            
1. Principle of the development 

 
9.2 The application site lies within Hatfield Town Centre and a Core Retail Zone, 

as designated in the Local Plan. The Town Centre was built following the 
town’s designation as a New Town and was largely completed by the 1960s. It 
is typical of its era, with a car-free pedestrian precinct at its heart. In terms of 
land uses, the town centre comprises a large Asda anchor store on the 
western side and a mixed-use retail area on the eastern side, based around a 
central street with two public squares (White Lion Square and Market 
Square), located to the north and south respectively. The Town Centre 
provides convenience and comparison shopping for Hatfield, plus community 
and leisure facilities.  

9.3 The Local Plan outlines that some of the New Town infrastructure is beginning 
to age and new investment is needed in Hatfield Town Centre in order to 
regenerate this area. The Local Plan also indicates that Hatfield will continue 
to be a main focus of shopping, leisure, housing and employment 
opportunities.  

9.4 The Council has developed a vision for the future of Hatfield, which has 
informed its spatial strategy for the town and forms part of a wider overall 
strategy to maintain and enhance its role, among other things: 

 As a town with an identity and legacy it can be proud of; 

 As a main centre for employment in the borough; 

 As a centre for shopping - with a stronger town centre, the Galleria and 
network of neighbourhood centres working together; and 

 As a centre for community services and facilities, including sport, 
culture, arts and heritage. 

Page 60



 

 

 

 
9.5 Objective 1 for Hatfield is to secure the regeneration of Hatfield town centre 

and High View neighbourhood centre to strengthen their roles as part of the 
town's retail, leisure and community service provision. Objective 3 is to 
improve the identity of the town through public realm improvements, place 
making, signage, public art and facilitate cultural activities, while Objective 6 
relates to supporting the provision of new community infrastructure through 
investment and regeneration of Hatfield town centre.  

9.6 The overall vision is to secure the regeneration of Hatfield Town Centre and 
create a vibrant and successful centre which meets the community's needs for 
retail, leisure and community service provision. It aims to create a town centre 
which realises its potential as a sustainable, attractive, safe, clean and lively 
place for those who wish to shop, work, reside or relax in it. Policy SP20 
(Hatfield Town Centre Strategy) seeks to promote the co-ordinated 
regeneration of Hatfield Town Centre in line with specific objectives. This will 
be achieved in accordance with the Strategy Diagram in Figure 13 of the 

Local Plan below:  

9.7 Policy SADM22 is also relevant (Development within Hatfield Town Centre 
Core Retail Zone). This states that applications for development in the Core 
Retail Zone will be required to address, amongst other things, the following 
design and land use principles:  

Page 61



 

 

 

 Opportunities should be taken to enhance the immediate physical 
environment to improve the character and quality of the town centre. 

 Opportunities should be taken to improve the public realm and its 
functionality by ensuring a consistent and coordinated treatment of 
materials and street furniture and substantially improving key 
pedestrian routes within the town centre.  

 Opportunities should be taken to improve pedestrian and cycle 
connectivity to the wider network and to respond to natural connections 
and design lines.  

9.8 This planning application seeks to improve the quality of the environment and 
public realm of Hatfield Market Place, through enhancements to the 
landscaping, layout, access and open space. It also seeks to deliver new play 
infrastructure and improved places for members of the public to rest and 
socialise. It is therefore considered that the principle of development has clear 
support at a local policy level. In terms of national policy, the development 
would accord with Section 7 of the NPPF (ensuring the vitality of town 
centres) and Paragraph 90 in particular, which states that planning decisions 
should support the role that town centres play at the heart of local 
communities, by taking a positive approach to their growth, management and 
adaptation. There are therefore no objections to the principle of the 
development, subject to meeting other policies in place, as discussed below. 

2. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area 
 

9.9 Paragraph 131 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) clearly 
advises that the creation of high-quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings 
and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process 
should achieve, and that good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development. Paragraph 135 of the NPPF further advises that decisions 
should ensure developments will function well, be visually attractive, 
sympathetic to local character and establish a strong sense of place. 

9.10 Paragraph 139 of the NPPF states that significant weight should be given to:  

a) development which reflects local design policies and government 
guidance on design, taking into account any local design guidance and 
supplementary planning documents such as design guides and codes; 
and/or  

b) outstanding or innovative designs which promote high levels of 
sustainability or help raise the standard of design more generally in an 
area, so long as they fit in with the overall form and layout of their 
surroundings.  

9.11 Consistent with the NPPF, are Policies SADM11 and SP9 of the Local Plan. 
These policies are expanded upon in the Council’s Supplementary Design 
Guidance (SDG).  

9.12 Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan Policy SP1 states that new development should 
contribute to the creation of mixed and sustainable communities which are 
well planned, promote healthy and active lifestyles, are inclusive and safe, 

Page 62



 

 

 

environmentally sensitive, accessible, culturally rich, vibrant and vital, well 
served, and built to high design standards reflecting local character.  

9.13 Furthermore, Policy SP9 states that proposals will be required to have been 
informed by an analysis of the site's character and context so that they relate 
well to their surroundings and local distinctiveness, including the wider 
townscape and landscape, and enhance the sense of place. Development 
proposals will need to respect neighbouring buildings and the surrounding 
context in terms of height, mass and scale and also be of a high-quality 
architectural design that creates coherent and attractive forms and elevations 
and uses high quality materials. It continues to add that places should be easy 
to understand and navigate by virtue of the layout, and design of routes and 
views. Places should be accessible, well connected and easy to move 
through for all in society. New routes should connect into the existing route 
network and be safe and pleasant to use.  

9.14 Policy SP9 goes on to state that public open spaces should be coherent, 
attractive, multi-functional, safe, inclusive and utilise high quality soft and hard 
landscaping, and should promote health and wellbeing, with play and leisure 
spaces well located and attractively designed to encourage their use. Public 
spaces and publicly accessible buildings should be designed to be inclusive, 
promote social interaction and provide opportunities for informal cultural and 
economic activities. The design of development should create a sense of 
safety and security that is consistent with achieving active, welcoming, and 
legible places. Open space should be multi-functional, attractive and 
accessible public spaces, which facilitate sport and physical activity. 

9.15 The proposed development seeks to achieve the aims listed in the above 
planning policies by reviving the public realm within Hatfield Market Place via 
the delivery of public realm improvements and new accesses to the site. 
These interventions propose to improve the appearance of the public realm 
through adding play infrastructure and places to rest and socialise. As such, 
the development seeks to contribute to the economic vitality, viability and 
health of the town centre by providing an active and restorative public realm 
and supporting local businesses at Hatfield Market Place. 

9.16 Local Plan Policy SP20 relating to the Hatfield Town Centre Strategy, sets out 
how the Council will promote the co-ordinated regeneration of Hatfield Town 
Centre and will support development within the town centre boundary that: 
makes a positive contribution to improving the town centre’s viability and 
vitality; helps to create a comfortable, safe, attractive and accessible shopping 
environment; and improves both the overall mix of land uses in the centre and 
its connectivity to adjoining areas. Local Plan Policy SP20 makes particular 
provision for enhancing the quality of the environment and public realm. On 
this basis, the proposed development represents investment within the public 
realm to Hatfield Market Place and aims to support the role of the public realm 
in this location to act as a destination in the town, also strengthening the Core 
Retail Zone in line with Policy SADM22. The proposal would therefore 
endorse the enhancement of the immediate physical environment to improve 
the character and quality of the town centre. The proposed development 
incorporates a number of design features in accordance with the above 

Page 63



 

 

 

principles. These include access and layout improvements, delivery of new 
play infrastructure, leisure equipment and new tactile surfaces.  

9.17 The proposed development would renew the existing public realm with 
additional space for inclusive play, street furniture and new planting and trees. 
Hatfield Town Council have commented on this part of the proposal, setting 
out that the play equipment should be accessible for all, including children 
with mobility needs. The applicant has responded to this within the supporting 
information, stating that accessibility has been a guiding priority in the 
selection of play equipment, and the proposal ensures it accommodates 
children with varying mobility needs. The development also involves the re-
profiling of the land, to replace the existing steps, upstands and railings with 
gentler slopes, in order to improve accessibility compared to the existing 
arrangement. In this regard, the development would provide a better-quality 
space in the town centre for resting, playing and socialising, which could 
result in greater footfall in this area of the Core Retail Area in Hatfield.  

9.18 A new wayfinding infrastructure is proposed in order to improve legibility and 
permeability across the site, improving the existing routes and creating new 
elements of visual interest. The County Rights of Way team have commented 
on this part of the proposal, stating that the planting in the south-eastern 
section at the end of Pathway 136b could potentially cause an obstruction. 
The plans demonstrate that a path would lead from the existing pedestrian 
crossing through the site. These comments are noted. However, the proposal 
provides a clearer path to the pedestrian crossing which is a very small 
diversion from pathway 136b, which would be the likely destination for the 
majority of people using this pathway. With this in mind, the proposal is 
considered to protect the aims of the Public Right of Way. 

9.19 The proposed development also incorporates better-quality vegetation and 
greenery to existing, which would deliver greater biodiversity benefit and 
seasonal interest whilst retaining the existing trees. Through the incorporation 
of greenery and play space, the proposed development would comply with the 
principles as set out in Policy SP9 with respect to space for nature and 
healthy and active spaces. This placemaking approach is considered to reflect 
high quality design which would encourage a greater uptake and use of the 
space.  

9.20 The design of the scheme reflects the local aviation heritage of Hatfield, 
through integrating this into the development. As a result, the proposal would 
represent an enhancement to the character and quality of Hatfield Town 
Centre, through a consistent and co-ordinated application of materials and 
street furniture. As such, these measures align with the principles relating to 
the public realm as set out in Local Plan Policy SADM22. The incorporation of 
aviation-themed floor-marking refers to the historic industry of aviation in 
Hatfield and contributes to a distinct sense of place, whilst reflecting the 
overarching design approach to encourage colour, identity and placemaking, 
as well as activities and purpose for all. In terms of the proposed play 
equipment, the submitted section plans suggest there would be raised 
playground equipment which would follow the aviation theme. There would 
also be natural trails including timber stepping stones and fixed chess tables.  

Page 64



 

 

 

9.21 Pocket active spaces with play and family equipment are proposed, which 
would provide opportunities for physical activity and social interaction. Pocket 
reflective spaces are also proposed, promoting health and well-being through 
safe and inclusive design within the planting pockets. This approach to active 
and restorative spaces aligns with the healthy and active principles contained 
within Policy SP9, through the creation of multi-functional, attractive and 
accessible public space. 

9.22 Hatfield Town Council have commented on the application, noting that the 
development should be inclusive and accessible to as many people as 
possible. The re-profiling of the site will support the accessibility of the public 
realm, with steps, upstands and railings to be replaced with gentle slopes. 
This will address the existing incongruous and inaccessible change in levels 
across the site, to provide better pedestrian movement within the site and its 
wider context. The Town Council added that some residents would still need 
the benefit of handrails to negotiate certain slopes, however, the applicant 
added that the landscape has been carefully designed to eliminate steep 
slopes, which reduces the need for handrails. This step-free design will 
provide easy and safe access for residents and visitors, particularly for those 
with mobility needs.  

9.23 The Town Council also added concerns relating to the metal railings between 
the site and Queensway Road. The main concerns are that these railings are 
critical to ensuring the site remains a safe space for young children. The 
supporting information provided by the applicant sets out that the importance 
of this safety feature is acknowledged and confirms that the railing will not be 
removed but will instead be painted to enhance its durability and appearance.  

9.24 Further comments from Hatfield Town Council state that the town centre 
would benefit from safe and clean public toilets for residents and visitors to 
use. The applicants supporting statement sets out that public toilets are not 
included within the scope of this project but acknowledge that public amenities 
are important to the town centre. However, as they do not form part of this 
application, this would not be a sufficient reason to resist the development. 
The Town Council have also suggested there is also a lack of seating by the 
Play Trails/Wheels Area which may prove problematic for parents and 
guardians with young children wishing to use this area. The applicant has 
confirmed they are willing to consider options to enhance seating in this area, 
which could be secured by condition.  

9.25 In terms of the materials palette, the proposal incorporates a variety of 
colours, such as buff, grey and red coloured concrete block pavers, resin 
bound gravels and rubber crumb play surfaces in bright colours (such as deep 
orange and luminous bright red). The intention of this is to work with the 
existing green palette of the tree and landscaping in the area and create an 
intentional contrast which would transform the area into a destination. A 
condition can ensure these materials are utilised. 

9.26 In terms of furniture palette, the proposal would include curved benches with 
galvanised steel bases, picnic benches, double steel litter bins, Sheffield cycle 

Page 65



 

 

 

stands. Photos of these features are provided in the submitted Design and 
Access Statement and a condition can ensure these details are utilised.  

9.27 Overall, it is therefore considered that the proposed development would 
adhere to local and national policy in terms of its design and would improve 
the existing character of Hatfield Market Place, therefore improving the public 
realm. In order to ensure the longer-term durability of the public realm, a 
strategy can be secured by condition for its management and maintenance. 

3. Residential amenity  

9.28 The NPPF is clear that planning should be a means of finding ways to 
enhance and improve the places in which people live their lives. This means 
that authorities should always seek to secure high quality design and a good 
standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of the land. Policies 
SP9, SADM11 and SADM18 of the Local Plan seek to ensure that no new 
development would adversely affect the existing area either in terms of any 
built form or in terms of the operation of any uses from noise and vibration 
pollution. Policy SADM18 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that no new 
development would cause disturbance to people or the natural environment 
due to noise and/or vibration pollution. It is generally accepted that most forms 
of development will result in some noise, particularly during the construction 
phase. 

9.29 It is noted that the nearest residential properties are approximately 35m away 
from the application site, consisting of a large block of flats located between 
the shops on the edge of the Market Place and Asda. To the north, residential 
units are located above retail units within the town centre approximately 60m 
from the application site. Properties to the east and south are separated by 
Queensway and an area of landscaped open space. Existing residential 
properties which have the potential to be impacted by the development are 
therefore located within a populated area within a busy part of Hatfield town 
centre. It is noted that the addition of a children’s play area could see an 
increase in noise levels, however, it is not considered that the alterations 
would detrimentally alter noise levels in terms of the existing use of the space 
as a public area. Therefore, the improvements proposed to Hatfield Market 
Place would not give rise to any harmful impacts to the surrounding 
neighbours. Furthermore, due to the nature of the development, and the 
distance of the nearest residential properties from the scheme as discussed 
above, there would not be any significant changes in terms of loss of light, 
outlook or privacy.  

9.30 In this case, the Council’s Public Health and Protection Officer has reviewed 
the application and considers that the proposal is acceptable, subject to 
standard restrictions on times of construction noise and dust. This can be 
secured by informative. No concerns are raised with regard to additional light 
to be generated from the proposal either. 

9.31 In summary, considering the scale of the development and the separation 
distances from neighbouring properties, the proposal would not have a 
detrimental impact on the amenity of existing occupiers in terms of loss of 

Page 66



 

 

 

light, outlook, privacy, light or noise. The proposal would therefore be in 
accordance with the NPPF, Policies SP9, SADM11 and SADM18 of the Local 
Plan and the SDG. 

4. Highways and parking considerations 
 
9.32 Policy 115 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or 

refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would 
be severe.  

9.33 Local Plan Policy SADM2 reiterates this, setting out that development 
proposals will be permitted provided there would be no negative impacts on 
highway safety and are designed to allow safe and suitable means of access 
to and from the site for all users. Policy SP4 is also relevant. 
 

9.34 Policy SADM3 (sustainable travel for all) states that development proposals 
should make provision where appropriate for: 
 
ii. Cyclists, through safe design and layout of routes integrated into new 
development and the wider cycle network and provision of secure cycle 
parking and where appropriate changing facilities.  
iii. Pedestrians (including disabled persons and those with impaired mobility), 
through safe, accessible, direct and convenient design and layout of routes 
within the new development and wider pedestrian network.  
iv. Safeguarding existing Public Rights of Way and promoting enhancements 
to the network, where appropriate, to offer walking and cycling opportunities. 
v. Public transport, through measures that will improve and support public 
transport and provide new public transport routes.  
vi. Community transport, through the implementation of Travel Plans where 
appropriate (for example including measures that will promote carpools, car 
sharing and voluntary community buses, community services and cycle 
schemes).  
vii. Servicing and emergency vehicles.  
viii. Facilities for charging plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles. 
 

9.35 The development proposes to improve access to the public realm through 
enhancing 3 existing pedestrian linkages from the south, north, and west. 
These linkages connect the site with the town centre and White Lion Square 
to the north, the residential area to the south, and ASDA to the east. The 
scheme would refine these linkages and improve the access through the site 
from its wider context. In turn, this would further reinforce the public realm at 
Hatfield Market Place as a key destination within the Core Retail Zone, which 
is accessible for a range of users.  

9.36 The site will continue to be served by the local bus stop to the south on 
Queensway outside of the site. The site will provide additional street furniture, 
alongside an improved pedestrian network as a result of the improved 
wayfinding signage. These measures are supported by Local Plan Policy 
SADM3, which promotes accessibility and integration into the wider 

Page 67



 

 

 

community and existing networks. The delivery of 10 additional cycle stands is 
also proposed, promoting the use of sustainable modes of travel in 
accordance with Local Plan Policy SP4 and SADM3.  

9.37 The County Highways Officer has been consulted on the application and 
confirmed the development is acceptable, subject to a condition requesting a 
Construction Method Statement to be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority, and recommended informatives. This would ensure the impacts 
from construction on the surrounding road network are minimised. 

9.38 There are also some Public Rights of Way adjacent to, and inside the 
application site. Policy SADM3 refers to safeguarding existing Public Rights of 
Way and promoting enhancements to existing networks. The County Rights of 
Way team have been consulted and have confirmed that the development 
would potentially obstruct route 136b due to an area of proposed soft 
landscaping. However, as discussed earlier in this report, the altered route 
would provide a better user journey. 

9.39 A neighbour comment has been received in support of the development but 
raises concerns regarding the existing bus interchange. The scheme does not 
propose to alter the existing arrangements, as the bus stops are located 
outside of the boundaries of the application site. Furthermore, Hertfordshire 
Highways have reviewed the proposal and have not identified any bus stop 
improvement works that are required to render this development acceptable. 
Therefore, there are no concerns raised in this regard. 

9.40 The development would therefore have an acceptable impact on highway and 
pedestrian safety and would accord with the relevant local and national policy 
in this regard as set out above.   

5. Other considerations  
 

i) Ecology and biodiversity  
 

9.41 In England, Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) is mandatory under Schedule 7A of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as inserted by Schedule 14 of the 
Environment Act 2021). Under the statutory framework, every grant of 
planning permission, subject to some exceptions, is expected to deliver at 
least a 10% increase in biodiversity value relative to the pre-development 
biodiversity value of the onsite habitat and should otherwise be refused.  

9.42 Paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
sets out that every planning permission granted for the development of land in 
England shall be deemed to have been granted subject to the ‘biodiversity 
gain condition’. Applicants for planning permission are required to make a 
statement as to whether the biodiversity gain condition will apply if permission 
is granted. The applicant has confirmed on the application form that if 
permission is granted for the development to which this application relates, 
the biodiversity gain condition would apply.  

Page 68



 

 

 

9.43 Policy SADM16 of the Local Plan states that proposals will be expected to 
maintain, protect, conserve and enhance biodiversity, the structure and 
function of ecological networks and the ecological status of water bodies. All 
developments that are not otherwise exempt will be required to deliver a 
measurable biodiversity net gain of at least 10%. 

9.44 The NPPF outlines that planning decisions should protect and enhance 
biodiversity and, when determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should ensure that if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from 
a development cannot be avoided, adequately mitigated against, or, as a last 
resort, compensated for, then permission should be refused. 

9.45  The application is accompanied by a Biodiversity Metric and a Biodiversity 
Net Gain Assessment which states that the proposed development would 
result in a net increase of 0.16 habitat units (14.27%). 

9.46 Hertfordshire Ecology have been consulted on the application and have 
confirmed that it has been demonstrated that the required biodiversity uplift 
can be achieved and that the scheme is automatically subject to a General 
Biodiversity Gain Condition which requires the delivery of a Biodiversity Gain 
Plan. This is a statutory condition as every grant of planning permission is 
deemed to have been granted subject to the condition that the biodiversity 
gain objective is met. It will therefore be kept separate to the list of 
recommended conditions at the end of this report. 

9.47 A further condition of approval is recommended for a Landscape and 
Ecological Management Plan (LEMP). This shall demonstrate how the habitat 
enhancement and creation, and subsequent target habitat conditions on-site, 
will be created, enhanced, and monitored following the completion of the 
capital works required to create them. 

9.48 As such, subject to the recommended conditions and informatives, there 
would be no conflict with the NPPF or Policy SADM16 of the Local Plan.  

 
ii) Landscaping 
 

9.49 Local Plan Policy SP12 encourages the creation and enhancement of 
strategic green infrastructure across the borough. Opportunities to link 
existing green spaces and to improve public access and amenity will be 
supported, in order to provide a comprehensive network of functional and 
linked spaces for the benefit of wildlife, biodiversity and the community. This is 
supported by Local Plan Policy SADM16, which outlines an expectation for 
proposals to maintain, protect, conserve and enhance biodiversity.  

9.50 Landscaping is important in order to protect and maintain, or ideally enhance, 
the existing character of the area and to reduce the visual and environmental 
impacts of the development. It is important that an appropriate balance 
between hard and soft landscaping is maintained. 

9.51 The NPPF sets out at Paragraph 135 that planning decisions should be 
sympathetic to local character, including the landscape setting. Paragraph 136 

Page 69



 

 

 

acknowledges that trees make an important contribution to the character and 
quality of urban environments and can also help mitigate and adapt to climate 
change. 

9.52 The development would require the removal of Category C trees, which would 
be compensated with new planting elsewhere. The Council’s Landscapes 
Officer has reviewed the proposal and considers that further information will 
be required in respect of tree protection measures, including a full 
arboricultural survey, tree protection plan and method statement. This can be 
secured by condition. There are also some concerns regarding the proposed 
plant species. However, it is considered that alternative species could also be 
secured by condition, in addition to further details regarding planting methods, 
densities, aftercare and management and maintenance. 

9.53 The development would include the provision of biodiverse beds and planting 
islands, as well as new trees across the site. In addition, the existing 
moderate and high-quality trees within the site will be retained. The delivery of 
planting beds across the southern boundary of the site provides a planting 
buffer which runs adjacent to Queensway, acting as natural screening for the 
public realm from the adjacent carriageway.  

9.54 Features described as ‘wet pour’ rubber mounds are proposed as part of the 
development, which would serve as part of a new play trail. The mounds 
would be modest in height and would not appear unduly dominant in their 
surroundings. Detailed section plans of these features could be secured by 
condition.  

9.55 Hatfield Town Council have commented on the proposed landscaping 
alterations, stating that a condition should be added in the event of an 
approval to ensure any trees, plants, and bushes are maintained. This can be 
secured by condition in the event of an approval, along with the management 
and maintenance of the remainder of the public realm.  

vi) Refuse and recycling  

9.56 Policy SADM12 of the Local Plan states that appropriate provision of service 
areas and refuse storage and collection areas should be made according to 
the nature of the development. Such areas and access to them should be 
appropriately sited and designed to ensure they can:  

a. Perform their role effectively without prejudicing or being prejudiced by 
other functions and users;  

b. Maintain an attractive and coherent street scene and protect visual 
amenity; and  

c. Avoid creating risk to human health or an environmental nuisance. 

9.57 In this case, the submitted plans indicate the location of proposed litter bins 
within the area. However, there is a lack of information on the individual 
design of the bins. Further details can be secured via condition in the event of 
an approval, along with details of other street furniture. 

Page 70



 

 

 

vii) Public safety and security 

9.58 Local Plan Policy SP9 requires public places to be appropriately sited, 
designed and lit in order to maximise natural surveillance and a sense of 
safety. Proportionate steps may need to be taken to reduce vulnerability and 
increase resilience in locations where large numbers of people may be 
expected to congregate.  

9.59 The application proposes to fit new spotlights to three of the existing lighting 
columns and six new single head lighting columns. Feature lighting is also 
proposed within trees around the centre and south of the site. The existing 
area is prone to groups of people congregating, and this proposal seeks to 
improve this, giving a sense of purpose to the area and creating a brighter, 
more open public realm that can be enjoyed by a wider range of people. The 
Council’s Public Health and Protection Officer has confirmed there are no 
concerns with the proposed lighting.  

9.60 Hatfield Town Council have commented on wider public safety, stating that the 
removal of the barriers between the shops and the recreational area is a 
positive, as long as the design does not encourage the misuse of the site by 
those on skateboards, scooters and bicycles, which would discourage people 
from visiting and enjoying the space as intended. The applicant has 
responded to this comment to confirm that the Town Councils commitment to 
a safe and welcoming environment is shared and the design has incorporated 
features aimed at minimising unintended uses of the space, while ensuring it 
remains attractive for families and individuals to enjoy.  

9.61 Hertfordshire Constabulary have also commented on the proposal, noting that 
they were approached before the planning application was submitted in order 
to provide comments about how the scheme can assist with crime prevention. 
Their comments confirm that their feedback regarding security has been 
incorporated into the design of the development. Hertfordshire Constabulary 
are therefore in support of the scheme in this regard. 

v) Flood risk and drainage 

9.62 The NPPF deals with issues of climate change and flooding and by means of 
the sequential test seeks to steer new development to areas with the lowest 
probability of flooding. The flood zones are the starting point for this approach. 
The EA identifies Flood Zones 2 & 3 and all land outside those zones is in 
Flood Zone 1. Policy SADM14 of the Local Plan is similar in these aims. 
 

9.63 This site is located within Flood Zone 1 i.e. a low probability of flooding. 
However, some areas on site are more at risk of surface water flooding. The 
proposal includes a drainage strategy which would utilise the existing 
infrastructure. Alterations to land levels are proposed, as well as the removal 
of a wall, in order to direct any excess surface water to the centre of the 
square, towards the existing gullies. The land levels would have a maximum 
gradient of 1:21. Some of the existing gullies at the foot of the existing wall 
would be removed. The hard surfacing would comprise of a combination of 
block paving, resin bound gravel and concrete paving slabs.  

Page 71



 

 

 

 
9.64 The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) have been consulted and have not 

raised any comments on the proposed drainage scheme. The Environment 
Agency have not commented either. As the proposal seeks to improve the 
existing situation and no objections have been raised from either party, it is 
not considered that there would be a reason to withhold planning permission 
on the grounds of the proposed drainage strategy.  

9.65 A condition can secure a detailed management and maintenance plan for the 
Sustainable Drainage System (SuDS) features, including an inspection 
timetable and arrangements for adoption and any other measures necessary 
to ensure the efficient operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime. A 
separate condition can also ensure the development implements the 
approved drainage strategy prior to the marketplace being brought back into 
use. 

10 Conclusion 
 

10.1 Further to the above and subject to conditions, the proposal would have no 
significant adverse impact upon the character and appearance of the area, 
adjoining or future occupiers living conditions, highway safety, or any other 
material considerations. It would also promote the co-ordinated regeneration of 
Hatfield town centre and support development within the town centre.  
Accordingly, and for the reasons given, the proposal is recommended for 
approval. 

11 Recommendation 
 

11.1 It is recommended that planning permission be approved subject to the 
following conditions: 

 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS 

 
1. No development shall commence until a Construction Method Statement 

has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Thereafter the construction of the development shall only be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. The Construction 
Management Statement shall include details of: 
 

 Access arrangements to the site 

 Traffic management requirements  

 Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated 
for car parking, loading/ unloading and tuning areas) 

 Siting and details of wheel washing facilities 

 Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public 
highway 

 Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and 
removal of waste) and to avoid school pick up/ drop off times 

 Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of 
construction activities 

Page 72



 

 

 

 Post construction restoration/ reinstatement of the working areas 
and temporary access to the public highway 

 Where works cannot be contained wholly within the site, a plan 
should be submitted sowing the site layout on the highway including 
the extent of hording which much be kept within the sire boundary, 
pedestrian routed and remaining road width for vehicle movements 

 

REASON: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other 
users of the public highway and rights of way in accordance with Policies 
5, 12, 17 and 22 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018), 
Policy SADM2 of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

  
2. No development shall commence until a Public Realm Management 

Strategy, including hard and soft landscaping, play equipment, lighting and 
street furniture has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Thereafter, the development must not be carried out 
other than in accordance with approved strategy.  
 
REASON: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in 
accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

3. No development shall commence until a Landscape and Ecological 
Management Plan (LEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Herts Ecology. The 
LEMP shall be carried out as approved. The LEMP shall include details of 
measures to protect and enhance existing habitats, as well as a plan to 
show species enhancements on-site reflecting proposals within the 
Biodiversity Gain Plan, to demonstrate how the habitat enhancement and 
creation, and subsequent target habitat conditions on-site, will be created, 
enhanced and monitored following the completion of the capital works 
required to create them, to demonstrate that at least 10% Biodiversity Net 
Gain on-site will be created, enhanced and monitored. 
                                                                                                                                                     
REASON: The landscaping of this site is required in the interests of 
enhancing the character and amenity of the area, to provide ecological, 
environmental and biodiversity benefits, and to mitigate the impacts of 
climate change in accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 
Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

4. No development shall commence until full details of Arboricultural 
Information in accordance with BS:5837:2012 shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the 
development must not be carried out other than in accordance with the 
approved details. The Arboricultural Information must include: 
  
a) A Tree Survey 
b) An Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

Page 73



 

 

 

c) A Tree Protection Plan 
d) An Arboricultural Method Statement 
 
The development shall not be implemented other than in accordance with 
the approved details. 
 
REASON: To ensure the satisfactory protection of retained trees, shrubs, 
and hedgerows during the construction period and in the interest of visual 
amenity in accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local 
Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

5. Notwithstanding the submitted landscaping details, no development shall 
commence until full details of hard and soft landscape works shall be 
submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. 
Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the first use of any part of the development (or 
within such a period as may first be agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. The landscaping details to be submitted shall include:  
 
a) Existing and proposed levels (including cross-sections) showing 
earthworks and mounding; 
b) Trees and hedgerow to be retained;  
c) Planting plans, including written specifications (including cultivation and 
other operations associated with plant and grass establishment), 
schedules of plants noting species, sizes, planting centres, number and 
percentage mix, and details of seeding or turfing;  
d) Hard surfacing materials;  
e) Means of enclosure and boundary treatments; and 
f) Details of additional seating areas 
 
All agreed landscaping comprised in the above details of landscaping must 
be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the first 
use of the site or in agreed phases, whichever is the sooner: and any 
plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased 
shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size 
and species. All landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with 
the guidance contained in British Standards 8545: 2014. 
 
REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with the 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

6. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out other than in 
accordance with the approved surface water drainage strategy. The 
mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to the marketplace 
being brought back into use and subsequently in accordance with the 
timing arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any other 
period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

Page 74



 

 

 

 
REASON:  To reduce the risk and impact of flooding by ensuring the 
satisfactory storage and disposal of surface water from the site and to 
ensure surface water can be managed in a sustainable manner in 
accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

7. No development shall commence until a detailed management and 
maintenance plan for the Sustainable Drainage System (SuDS) features 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The management and maintenance plan shall include an 
inspection timetable and arrangements for adoption and any other 
measures necessary to ensure the efficient operation of the scheme 
throughout its lifetime. The approved details shall be adhered to 
throughout the lifetime of the development.  
 
REASON:  To ensure the drainage system is maintained throughout the 
lifetime of the development to an acceptable standard in accordance with 
the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

8. The development shall not be completed other than in accordance with the 
submitted materials and furniture palette in the Design and Access 
Statement dated August 2024, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority.  

 

REASON: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the 
interests of visual amenity in accordance with the Welwyn Hatfield 
Borough Council Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

9. All hard and soft landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details. Any plants which within a period of 5 years from the 
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
others of similar size and species. All landscape works shall be carried out 
in accordance with the guidance contained in British Standards 8545: 
2014. 
 
REASON: To ensure proper implementation of the agreed landscape 
details in the interest of the amenity value of the development in 
accordance with Policy SP9 and SADM16 of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough 
Council Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

DRAWING NUMBERS 
 

10. The development/works shall not be started and completed other than in 
accordance with the approved plans and details: 
 

Plan 
Number 

Revision 
Number 

Details Received Date 

Page 75



 

 

 

3801-BDP-
00-XX-DR-
L-0000 

R00 Site Location Plan 19 August 2024 

3801-BDP-
00-XX-DR-
L-0001 

R00 Landscape General 
Arrangement Plan 

19 August 2024 

3801-BDP-
00-XX-DR-
L-0002 

R00 Levels & Drainage Plans 19 August 2024 

3801-BDP-
00-XX-DR-
L-0006 

R00 Existing Site Plan 19 August 2024 

3801-BDP-
00-XX-DR-
L-0102 

R00 Planting Plan Zoom 2 of 3 19 August 2024 

3801-BDP-
00- XX-SE-
L 0001 

R00 Section A 19 August 2024 

62300BWL
S-01 

 Topographical Survey 
Sheet 1 of 1  

19 August 2024 

3801-BDP-
00-XX-DR-
L-0005 

R00 Proposed Planting Plan 19 August 2024 

3801-BDP-
00-XX-DR-
L-0103 

R00 Planting Plan Zoom 3 of 3 19 August 2024 

3801-BDP-
00-XX_DR-
L-0101 

 Planting Plan Zoom 1 of 3  19 August 2024 

3801-BDP-
00-XX-SE-
L-0002 

R00 Section B & C 19 August 2024 

231065- P-
10 

 Tree Survey 19 August 2024 

3801-BDP-
00-XX-DR-
L-0003 

 Tree Removal Plan 19 August 2024 

 
REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans and details. 

 
Biodiversity Net Gain Condition 
 
Development may not be begun unless:  
 
(a) a biodiversity gain plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and  
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.  
 
REASON: To ensure compliance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (inserted by the Environment Act 2021). 

Page 76



 

 

 

 
Biodiversity Net Gain Informative Biodiversity net gain is a way of creating and 
improving biodiversity by requiring development to have a positive impact (‘net gain’) 
on biodiversity.  
 
In England, biodiversity net gain is required under a statutory framework introduced 
by Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (inserted by the 
Environment Act 2021). This statutory framework is referred to as ‘biodiversity net 
gain’ in Planning Practice Guidance to distinguish it from other or more general 
biodiversity gains.  
 
Under the statutory framework for biodiversity net gain, subject to some exceptions, 
every grant of planning permission is deemed to have been granted subject to the 
condition that the biodiversity gain objective is met (“the Biodiversity Gain 
Condition”). This objective is for development to deliver at least a 10% increase in 
biodiversity value relative to the pre-development biodiversity value of the onsite 
habitat. This increase can be achieved through onsite biodiversity gains, registered 
offsite biodiversity gains or statutory biodiversity credits.  
 
The biodiversity gain condition (as set out above at the end of this decision notice) is 
a pre-commencement condition: once planning permission has been granted, a 
Biodiversity Gain Plan must be submitted to and approved by Welwyn Hatfield 
Borough Council (the local planning authority) before commencement of the 
development. There are exemptions, transitional arrangements and requirements 
relating to irreplaceable habitat which disapply the condition from certain planning 
permissions, as well as special modifications for planning permissions for phased 
development and the treatment of irreplaceable habitats.  
 
In the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, the approved development is 
engaged by paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990, is subject to the statutory Biodiversity Gain Condition and none of 
the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements are considered to apply. 
 
The effect of section 73D of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990  
 
If planning permission is granted on an application made under section 73 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (application to develop land without 
compliance with conditions previously attached) and a Biodiversity Gain Plan was 
approved in relation to the previous planning permission (“the earlier Biodiversity 
Gain Plan”) there are circumstances when the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan is 
regarded as approved for the purpose of discharging the biodiversity gain condition 
subject to which the section 73 planning permission is granted.  
 
Those circumstances are that the conditions subject to which the section 73 
permission is granted: 
 
i. do not affect the post-development value of the onsite habitat as specified in 

the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan, and  
ii. in the case of planning permission for a development where all or any part of 

the onsite habitat is irreplaceable habitat the conditions do not change the 

Page 77



 

 

 

effect of the development on the biodiversity of that onsite habitat (including 
any arrangements made to compensate for any such effect) as specified in 
the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan.  

 
Advice on information required to discharge Biodiversity Gain Condition  
 
A Biodiversity Gain Plan to secure at least 10% increase in biodiversity value relative 
to the pre-development biodiversity value of the onsite habitat as per the statutory 
condition as set out on this Decision Notice must be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority and approved before the development can commence. In order to 
discharge the condition, the following information will be required:  
 
-details of purchase and monitoring of the offsite biodiversity units, a biodiversity 
metric for the site, costings and evidence of appropriate legal agreements to 
guarantee delivery of ongoing habitat management requirements specifically:  
 
i. Identification of receptor site or sites with associated plans;  
ii. Details of the offsetting requirements of the development in accordance with 

current DEFRA biodiversity metric;  
iii. The provision of evidence of arrangements to secure the delivery of offsetting 

measures, including a timetable of delivery; and  
iv. A Management and Monitoring Plan, to include for the provision and 

maintenance of the offsetting measures for a period of not less than 30 years 
from the commencement of the scheme and itself to include:  

 
a) Description of all habitat(s) to be created / restored / enhanced within the scheme 
including expected management condition and total area;  
b) Review of Ecological constraints;  
c) Current soil conditions of any areas designated for habitat creation and detailing of 
what conditioning must occur to the soil prior to the commencement of habitat 
creation works;  
d) Detailed design and working methods (management prescriptions) to achieve 
proposed habitats and management conditions, including extent and location of 
proposed works;  
e) Type and source of materials to be used, including species list for all proposed 
planting and abundance of species within any proposed seed mix;  
f) Identification of persons responsible for implementing the works;  
g) A timetable of ecological monitoring to assess the success of all habitats 
creation/enhancement.  
h) The inclusion of a feedback mechanism to the Local Planning Authority, allowing 
for the alteration of working methods / management prescriptions, should the 
monitoring deem it necessary.  
i) Evidence that appropriate arrangements are in place to ensure the Council is 
funded to monitor the proposed biodiversity gain from the site(s) proposed over a 
period of 30 years. This would normally be in the form of a freestanding S106 
agreement with a biodiversity provider which has already secured on-going 
monitoring contributions for the Council.  
 

Page 78



 

 

 

Commencing development which is subject to the biodiversity gain condition 
without an approved Biodiversity Gain Plan could result in your development 
becoming subject to enforcement action. 
 

INFORMATIVES 
 

1. All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary, or at 
such other place as may be agreed with the Council, shall be carried out only 
between the hours of:  

 
8.00am and 6.00pm on Mondays to Fridays  
8.00am and 1.00pm Saturdays  
and at no time on Sundays and Bank Holidays  
 
The best practicable means, as defined in section 72 of the Control of Pollution 
Act 1974, to reduce noise to a minimum shall be employed at all times. 
 
All plant and machinery in use shall be properly silenced and maintained in 
accordance with the manufacturers’ instructions. 
 
All compressors shall be sound reduced models, fitted with properly lined and 
sealed acoustic covers, which shall be kept closed whenever the machines are 
in use. All ancillary pneumatic percussive tools shall be fitted with mufflers or 
silencers of the type recommended by the manufactures.  
 
All machines in intermittent use shall be shut down during intervening periods 
between work, or throttled down to a minimum. Noise emitting equipment, which 
is required to operate continuously, shall be housed in suitable acoustic 
enclosures.  
 
Items of plant and equipment shall be maintained in good condition so that 
extraneous noise from mechanical vibration, squeaking or creaking is reduced to 
a minimum.  
 
All pile driving shall be carried out by a recognised noise reducing system. 
Where practical, rotary drills and bursters, actuated by hydraulic or electric 
power shall be used for excavating hard material. 
 
In general, equipment for breaking concrete and the like, shall be hydraulically 
actuated.  
 
‘BS 5228 Noise Control on Construction Sites’ should be referred to for guidance 
in respect of all work carried out by the developer, their main contractor and any 
sub contractors. 
 
Any emergency deviation from these conditions shall be notified to the Council 
without delay. 
 

Page 79



 

 

 

Any planned deviations from these conditions for special technical reasons, shall 
be negotiated with Council at least 14 days prior to the commencement of the 
specific work.  
 
Permissible noise levels are not specified at this stage.  
 
All efforts shall be made to reduce dust generation to a minimum. 
 
Stock piles of materials for use on the site or disposal that are likely to generate 
dust, shall be sited so as to minimise any nuisance to residents or neighbouring 
businesses. Materials for disposal shall be moved off site as quickly as possible.  
 
Water sprays shall be used, as and when necessary, to reduce dust from 
particularly "dusty" activities or stock piles.  

 
2. The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated with the 

construction of this development should be provided within the site on land which 
is not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with the 
public highway. If this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from the 
Highway Authority before construction works commence. Further information is 
available via the website https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-
roads-and-pavements/highwaysroads-and-pavements.aspxby telephoning 0300 
1234047. 

 
3. It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 for any person, 

without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free 
passage along a highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to 
result in the public highway or public right of way network becoming routinely 
blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must contact the Highway Authority to 
obtain their permission and requirements before construction works commence. 
Further information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/highwaysroads-and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 
1234047. 

 
4. It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit compost, 

dung or other material for dressing land, or any rubbish on a made up 
carriageway, or any or other debris on a highway to the interruption of any 
highway user. Section 149 of the same Act gives the Highway Authority powers 
to remove such material at the expense of the party responsible. Therefore, best 
practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure that all vehicles leaving the 
site during construction of the development and use thereafter are in a condition 
such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the highway. 
Further information is available by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
5. The applicant is advised that the Highway Authority has powers under section 

163 of the Highways Act 1980, to take appropriate steps where deemed 
necessary (serving notice to the occupier of premises adjoining a highway) to 

Page 80

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highwaysroads-and-pavements.aspxby%20telephoning%200300%201234047
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highwaysroads-and-pavements.aspxby%20telephoning%200300%201234047
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highwaysroads-and-pavements.aspxby%20telephoning%200300%201234047


 

 

 

prevent water from the roof or other part of the premises falling upon persons 
using the highway, or to prevent so far as is reasonably practicable, surface 
water from the premises flowing on to, or over the footway of the highway 

 
6. This permission does not convey any consent which may be required under any 

legislation other than the Town and Country Planning Acts. Any permission 
required under the Building Regulations or under any other Act, must be 
obtained from the relevant authority or body e.g. Fire Officer, Health and Safety 
Executive, Environment Agency (water interest etc.) Neither does this permission 
negate or override any private covenants or legal interest (easements or 
wayleaves) which may affect the land. 

 
7. The granting of this permission does not convey or imply any consent to build 

upon or access from any land not within the ownership of the applicant. 
 

8. Any damage to the grass verges caused by the development/works hereby 
approved is the responsibility of the applicant and must be re-instated to their 
original condition, within one month of the completion of the development/works. 
If damage to the verges are not repaired then the Council and/or Highway 
Authority will take appropriate enforcement action to remedy any harm caused. 

 
POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT 

The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision 
contrary to the development plan. 
 

Jessica Fuller (Development Management) 
Date: 22 November 2024 
 
 
  

Page 81



 

 

 

 
 

Page 82



Part I 
Executive Member: Councillor Rose Grewal 

 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 19 DECEMBER 2024 

REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (PLANNING) 

 

Appeal Decisions 11/10/2024 to 10/12/2024 

 

 

  

6/2024/0614/FULL 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/24/3345771 

Appeal By: McPartland Planning Ltd 

Site: 2 Copse Hill Welwyn AL6 0SG 

Proposal: Erection of a new dwelling 

Decision: Appeal Dismissed 

Decision Date: 18/10/2024 

Delegated or DMC 
Decision: 

Delegated 

Summary: This appeal relates to a proposed new dwelling. 
 
The Inspector considered that the appeal site makes a positive contribution to the 
wider area. It is heavily wooded with mature trees and other greenery. The 
application was not refused by the Council in respect of design, nevertheless, the 
Inspector concluded that the new dwelling would not sit comfortably within the 
landscape setting which is provided by this plot. It would be overly dominant due to 
its substantial footprint combined with its height. They disagreed with the Council’s 
assessment and considered that the development would represent poor design in 
this particular context as it would fail to adequately take account of its immediate 
setting with regard to its proposed scale; and with regard to its wider setting. 
 
The Inspector agreed that the proposal would adversely impact the living 
conditions of the adjacent occupiers.  
 
With regard to accessibility, the Inspector concluded that vehicles and pedestrians 
can coexist without significant safety issues. They considered that the proposal is 
not in the most accessible location but despite the concerns with regard to the lack 
of pavements along the route, beyond these narrow lanes and within the wider 
local road network, the addition of a further dwelling would not conflict with 
policies. 
 
The Inspector did not accept amended drawings that were received as part of the 
appeal process. The plans show an altered internal layout of the first floor of the 
dwelling to avoid overlooking from habitable rooms. They did not accept the 
amended plans without prejudice to other parties, particularly the residents of 28 
Robbery Bottom Lane. 
 

Page 83

Agenda Item 7



In weighing any benefits, which can be afforded greater weight given the local 
housing supply position, the Inspector concluded that the development would 
result in considerable environmental harm to the character and appearance of the 
area, and it would represent poor design in this particular context. 
 
The appeal was dismissed.  
 

6/2023/1065/FULL 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/24/3337063 

Appeal By: Mr Muhammad Bashir 

Site: 1 Warren Green Hatfield Hertfordshire AL10 0AJ 

Proposal: Erection of rear extension with flat roof to existing dwelling (No.1) and construction 
of a two storey 2 bedroom house adjacent to the existing dwelling, following 
demolition of the existing side extension. New crossover and access proposed for 
the existing dwelling, with the new dwelling utilising the existing access. 

Decision: Appeal Dismissed 

Decision Date: 18/10/2024 

Delegated or DMC 
Decision: 

Delegated 

Summary: This appeal relates to a rear extension with a flat roof to the existing dwelling 
(No.1); and the construction of a two storey, two bedroom house adjacent to the 
existing dwelling, following demolition of the existing side extension. 
 
The main issue was whether the proposal would provide suitably designed parking 
and access arrangements. 
 
No objection has been raised to the principle of a new dwelling or the impact on 
the character or appearance of the area, subject to the retention of the existing 
roadside hedge along Cornerfield. 
 
The highway authority was concerned that it has not been demonstrated how the 
parking space outside the new house would be utilised based on the layout shown. 
Although an illustration of a car is provided, no dimensions of the parking space 
are provided. Although the highway authority asked for a swept path illustration, 
this had not been submitted. 
 
The planning officer asked for an accurately surveyed plan due to concerns with 
regard to the space that would be available for parking. It had not been 
demonstrated, on any plan, that the space available would actually be capable of 
accommodating a full sized parking space, or that the space could be accessed in 
a convenient manner. 
 
Moreover, parking, if actually possible fully off the pavement, would require 
significant manoeuvring within the pavement. It is also likely that access to the 
front door would be hindered by such parking, or alternatively, a parked vehicle 
would extend onto the pavement. In any event, the layout would result in a 
particularly poor frontage with unacceptable access arrangements for the new 
dwelling.  

Page 84



 
Overall, the parking and access arrangements and the frontage design of the new 
property would represent particularly poor design. This is a relatively large plot and 
it could accommodate a dwelling without the need for such compromised parking 
and access arrangements. 
 
As the current layout represents particularly poor design and would not provide a 
suitable means of access or adequate parking provision, it would be contrary to the 
requirements of policies SP 9 and SADM 2 of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough 
Council Local Plan 2016-2036 (2023). 
 
Consequently, the appeal is dismissed. 
 

6/2024/0042/FULL 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/24/3341182 

Appeal By: Mr R Fyson 

Site: Brocksfield Stables Homerswood Lane Welwyn AL6 9AD 

Proposal: Change of use of existing stables with external alterations to form a 4 bedroom 
detached dwelling with associated car parking and use of existing vehicular access 

Decision: Appeal Allowed with Conditions 

Decision Date: 22/10/2024 

Delegated or DMC 
Decision: 

Delegated 

Summary: This appeal relates to the change of use of existing stables with external 
alterations to form a four-bedroom detached dwelling with associated car parking 
and use of existing vehicular access. 
 
The application was refused because although there is lawful development 
certificate that confirmed that the stable and land within the red line for that 
application is lawful. It was not demonstrated that the whole site can be considered 
as being previously developed because the majority of the site is open and 
undeveloped and the red line extends beyond the red line of the certificate, into a 
wooded area 
However, the Inspector concluded that the proposal would not increase the scale 
of built development and would reduce the surfaced areas of the site. They 
concluded that the small area of land to the rear did not fall within the land 
associated with the certificate of lawfulness, its change of use would not result in 
any physical development that would change its openness. 
 
In relation to character, the Inspector concluded that although they were not 
satisfied that the development would enhance the appearance of this site, 
conditions could ensure that any impact on the landscape would be minimised. 
 
With regard to whether the proposal is a suitably accessible location for a new 
dwelling, it was concluded that although the accessibility of the site reduces its 
sustainability credentials it would contribute to local economic development and 
the new residents would contribute to social and economic objectives as they 
would be likely to utilise facilities and services in the local area and contribute to 

Page 85



the life of local communities.  They said that the site is not a location ideally suited 
to new residential development as it would not help to deliver a sustainable pattern 
of development which minimises the need to travel. It would contribute to important 
elements of sustainable development such as providing new housing and doing so 
on previously developed land. 
 
The Inspector did not consider suggested conditions regarding bin and cycle 
storage; and electric charging points were necessary given the retention of a 
building for cycle storage and given the scale of the site and the requirements of 
other regulations.  
 
The appeal was allowed.  
 

6/2023/2443/FULL 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/24/3342317 

Appeal By: Mr Pedram Aghaei 

Site: 109 Woods Avenue Hatfield AL10 8QQ 

Proposal: Erection of double garage and storage area for flat A and B following demolition of 
existing garage 

Decision: Late Appeal turned away 

Decision Date: 05/11/2024 

Delegated or DMC 
Decision: 

Delegated 

Summary: None 

6/2024/0083/HOUSE 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/D/24/3350895 

Appeal By: Mr Sunil Modhvadia 

Site: 24 Great North Road Welwyn AL6 0PS 

Proposal: Retention of front boundary wall 

Decision: Appeal Dismissed 

Decision Date: 08/11/2024 

Delegated or DMC 
Decision: 

Delegated 

Summary: This appeal relates to a 2m high brick wall built across the front boundary of the 
property. Boundary hedging was removed and the wall was built without 
permission. The main issue is the effect of the proposal on the character and 
appearance of the dwelling and the area. The site comprises a large detached 
house sited on a very wide plot within a row of dwellings on a busy road at the 
edge of a residential area with fields on the opposite side of the road. 
 
Most dwellings in the area benefit from tall mature green edges which provides 
significant screening of the dwelling. The inspector noted the exception of the red 
brick wall along the frontage of a children’s nursery but that is some distance away 
from the appeal site, and agreed with the Council assessment stating that it is 

Page 86



necessary for safety. Moreover, it is finished with a red brick which reflects the 
character of the area. The context and justification for that wall therefore differs 
significantly from this proposal.  
 
The siting of the proposed wall, together with the hardness and colour of the brick 
materials used, introduces a feature and materials not generally seen elsewhere 
along this long stretch of road and presents a stark contrast to the softness and 
greenery of most of the other residential boundaries. Although the light buff brick 
materials are of a high quality, they are not appropriate in this location. The 
extensive length of the wall, together with its height, emphasises its presence. The 
siting, scale and materials of the wall draw attention to and exacerbates this 
already prominent property to an unacceptable degree unlike the most of the other 
properties that are softened by mature planting. The straightness of the road 
means that the wall can be seen from some distance in both directions, 
interrupting this generally leafy section of road and detracting significantly from the 
street scene. 
 
As part of the appeal the applicant submitted amended plans showing planting in 
front of the wall. However the inspector concluded that as that planting would be 
on land outside the appeal site and no form of legal agreement was presented to 
secure it, the inspector was unable to give any significant weight to that in this 
appeal. In any case, that would not overcome the fundamental objection to the 
presence of the wall because a screened wall does not have the same degree of 
softness as a hedge. Given the light colour of the wall, it is unlikely that planting 
could provide sufficient screening and even if it were acceptable it would take a 
long time for any planting to mature. 
 
The appeal was therefore dismissed.  
 

6/2023/2066/HOUSE 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/D/24/3352908 

Appeal By: Mr Fazliddin Kurbanov 

Site: 16 The Wade Welwyn Garden City AL7 4LG 

Proposal: Erection of a rear conservatory 

Decision: Appeal Allowed with Conditions 

Decision Date: 14/11/2024 

Delegated or DMC 
Decision: 

Delegated 

Summary: This appeal relates to the erection of a conservatory to the rear of the dwelling. 
The application was refused as the submitted plans are inconsistent and 
inaccurate, and also included development which was not within the proposal. The 
inspector stated that the plans are not of a style typically submitted for a planning 
application. However, the diagrams along with the supporting measurements give 
sufficient detail in understanding the scale and form of the proposal, and that there 
is just about enough information to be able to assess the proposed conservatory in 
planning terms. 
 
 

Page 87



The inspector stated that as the conservatory is at the rear of the dwelling, it would 
be well screened from public views and clearly would be a subservient addition 
with a modest height and typical of neighbouring property extensions. It would 
blend seamlessly with the existing property and be a logical addition. Due to the 
reasonable height and length of the proposal, it would not result in the extension 
blocking neighbouring light or reducing their outlook unacceptably. In addition, and 
due to the existing boundary treatments and the siting of the proposal, there would 
be no unacceptable impingement on the privacy of neighbours through 
overlooking. Resultantly, the proposal would not harm the character and 
appearance to the area or the living conditions of the occupiers of neighbouring 
properties. 
 
The appeal was therefore allowed.  
 

6/2023/1748/FULL 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/24/3342990 

Appeal By: Mr & Mrs Beesley  

Site: Northaw Brook Meadow Coopers Lane Road Northaw EN6 4FB 

Proposal: Conversion of a stable block into dwelling 

Decision: Appeal Dismissed 

Decision Date: 19/11/2024 

Delegated or DMC 
Decision: 

Delegated 

Summary: This appeal relates to a proposal for conversion of a stable block to a single, two-
bedroom dwelling.  
 
The main issues for consideration were: 
• Green Belt 
• Character and appearance 
• Location 
• Refuse and Recycling  
• Flood risk 
• Very special circumstances 
 
Green Belt 
The appeal site includes land between the stable block and the manège. During 
the Inspector’s site visit there was a structure present on this area of land which 
was not shown on the submitted plans. There was no evidence to say whether it is 
a permanent structure or whether it has been granted planning permission. Also, 
there was no indication on the submitted plans that it would be retained in this 
location if permission were to be granted. The Inspector therefore determined the 
appeal based on the submitted plans. These indicate that this land would be 
changed to a residential use in association with the proposed house.  
 
This area of land is relatively large, significantly greater in footprint than the 
buildings. The change of the site to a residential use would be likely to impact on 
both the spatial and visual openness of the Green Belt and would amount to an 
encroachment into the countryside given its present use as a modest stable block 

Page 88



and garage as part of the wider stables. 
 
The appeal proposal would therefore be inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt. 
 
Character and appearance 
The appeal site comprises a working stables with several outbuildings, including a 
barn and field shelters. The appeal buildings are low-level structures of limited 
visual presence in the wider setting. While the appeal proposal involves some 
minor changes to the appearance of the stable block, its general form would 
remain in keeping with the rural setting, and it would be seen in the context of the 
surrounding stable yard and associated buildings, including a large barn which lies 
between the appeal buildings and the road.  However, the residential use of the 
land between the stable block and manège would result in a scale of development 
out of keeping in this setting.  
  
Location  
The appeal site is in a rural location, more than a mile from the nearest services 
and facilities, including public transport. There is no lighting or footpaths along 
Coopers Lane Road making pedestrian access unsafe and unattractive. Travel to 
and from the site is therefore likely to be by private vehicle. Even allowing for the 
reduced traffic levels associated with the site, it is not a suitable location for 
residential development. On balance, it was considered that the appeal proposal 
would conflict with the identified aims of local and national policies.  
 
Refuse and recycling 
It the Inspector were minded to allow the appeal, they were satisfied that adequate 
provision for the storage and collection of refuse and recycling could be provided. 
 
Flood Risk 
An updated Flood Risk Assessment showed that flood risk associated with the site 
and proposed development can be adequately managed.  
 
Collectively, the Inspector found that the benefits of the proposal would attract 
moderate weight. This would not be sufficient to clearly outweigh the harm to the 
Green Belt and the other harm identified, so very special circumstances did not 
exist in this case.  
 
The appeal was dismissed  
 

6/2024/0516/PN8 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/D/24/3345261 

Appeal By: Mr Nouradine Ramdani 

Site: 12 Homestead Road Hatfield AL10 0QL 

Proposal: Prior approval for the erection of a single storey rear extension with flat roof 
measuring 5.75m in depth, 3m in height and 3m to the eaves 

Decision: Appeal Dismissed 

Decision Date: 20/11/2024 

Page 89



Delegated or DMC 
Decision: 

Delegated 

Summary: This appeal relates to a prior approval application for a larger home extension, our 
application reference 6/2024/0516/PN8. 
 
This application was refused because the host dwelling benefits from an outrigger 
which is connected to the main dwelling. This appears to be a feature on several 
houses nearby. No evidence was submitted with the application to show that the 
outrigger was not original. The outrigger therefore forms part of the original 
dwellinghouse for the purposes of this assessment.  The proposed extension 
would extend beyond a wall forming a side elevation of the original dwellinghouse 
and have a width greater than half the width of the original dwellinghouse.   
 
The Inspector agreed to our assessment and the appeal was dismissed. 
 

6/2022/2775/HOUSE 

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/24/3343212 

Appeal By: Mr N Johnson 

Site: Flint Cottage Blackhorse Lane South Mimms Hertfordshire EN6 3NB 

Proposal: Alterations to dormers and crown roof over rear extension 

Decision: Appeal Dismissed 

Decision Date: 03/12/2024 

Delegated or DMC 
Decision: 

Delegated 

Summary: This appeal relates to alterations to dormers and crown roof over rear extension. 
 
The main issues were: 
 
• Whether the proposal would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt 
• The effect of the proposal on the openness of the Green Belt, and;  
• Whether any harm by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, would be 
clearly outweighed by other considerations, so as to amount to the very special 
circumstances required to justify the proposal. 
 
Background 
The appeal site includes a detached dwelling surrounded by woodland. The site 
has an extensive planning history, of which the following is most pertinent: 
 
In 1994 permission was granted for what had been two semi-detached cottages to 
become one house and for it to be extended. Some permitted development rights, 
including those allowing further extensions, were removed so as to control 
development which may have a detrimental effect on a nearby Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI). Further extensions to the dwelling were permitted in 
2004. Both the 1994 and 2004 permissions were implemented. 
 
Thereafter, unauthorised development took place. A retrospective application was 
refused in 2011, and an enforcement notice (the notice) requiring the demolition of 

Page 90



both an outbuilding and of extensions and enlargements of the dwelling was 
upheld at appeal in 20141 (the EN appeal). Soon after, a planning application was 
submitted for alterations to the dwelling, including the retention of some of the 
development addressed by the notice. In 2018 this was refused and a subsequent 
appeal2 (the PA appeal) dismissed. 
 
The development addressed by the notice remains in place. 
 
Whether inappropriate development 
Paragraph 154 exception c of the NPPF is relevant which is for the extension or 
alteration of a building, provided that it does not result in disproportionate additions 
over and above the size of the original building. 
 
Policy SADM34 of the Local Plan closely follows the NPPF, also specifying 
disproportionate additions are to be considered in terms of bulk, scale, height or 
massing, and requires that account be taken of consistency with the general 
pattern of development, character of the area, and prominence in the landscape. 
 
The footprint has increased from some 95m2 to 187m2, the floor area from 162m2 
to 390m2, the roof volume from 95m3 to 242m3, the roof height from 3.1m to 3.8. 
The ridge length is 11m at present and, though the original length is not stated, it 
was 6m as of the 1994 and 2004 permissions. 
 
The EN appeal found that the above increases were inappropriate development in 
the Green Belt. The proposal is for the same development as exists, less the 
pitched roofs on the six roof dormers, which would become flat-roofed, and the top 
part of the ground floor rear extension roof, which would be lowered. 
 
The sum of the additions would result in a footprint increase of some 10m2, a floor 
area increase of some 138%, a roof volume increase of slightly less than 150%, a 
roof height increase of some 700mm, and a ridge length increase of some 5m. In 
quantitative terms the extensions to the original building are substantial. Visually, 
the additions to the building have altered it significantly from the original humble 
cottages. In both respects, the sum of the additions is disproportionate over and 
above the size of the original building. 
 
For these reasons, the appeal proposal would be inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt which is, by definition, harmful. It would therefore conflict with Policy 
SADM34 of the Local Plan, and with the Framework. 
 
Openness 
The appeal proposal comprises built development where it did not previously exist 
and, as such has a spatial effect on openness.  
 
The bulk, scale, height, and massing of the appeal proposal are at odds with 
undeveloped, verdant character of the surrounding area and landscape. 
 
The proposal would result in a harmful loss of openness, albeit one which would 
be slightly tempered by the secluded location of the site. 
 
 
 

Page 91



Other considerations 
There is no dispute as to the protection afforded to bats, that since the PA appeal 
in 2018 bats have been found to roost at the appeal dwelling, or that work affecting 
bat roosts requires a licence from Natural England. 
 
The requirements of the notice and whether the presence of bat roosts at the 
appeal dwelling justifies non-compliance with them are not matters before the 
Inspector. 
 
It is not evident that an application for a license is bound to be refused. 
Furthermore, there is no evidence that a license was refused. As a result, and 
even if implementation of the appeal proposal would retain all existing bat roosts, it 
is not evident that the appeal proposal is the only way in which bats could be 
protected. Minimal weight is afforded. 
 
Whilst the Inspector in the EN appeal expressed her hope that discussions 
between the parties would follow, she also upheld the enforcement notice without 
modification and made it clear that whether to waive any of its requirements was a 
matter for the Council. That remains the case. Even if the 2014 application had the 
support of officers, it was refused by the Council and was, in any event, a different 
scheme to that before the Inspector. Minimal weight is given to the EN appeal. 
 
The condition restricting permitted development rights was imposed to protect the 
SSSI, and no harm to it has been identified by the Council. Minimal weight is 
afforded to the reason for the condition. 
 
The appellants concerns over the time taken by the Council, and their assertion 
that bats have roosted in the meantime are noted by the Inspector. The 
performance of the Council is not a matter before the Inspector and, if the 
appellant has sufficient grounds, they may pursue a complaint independently to 
this appeal. In any event, it is not evident that the appellant was awaiting a 
decision from the Council in the period when the bats roosted. Overall, Council 
timescales carry minimal weight, therefore. 
 
There is no reason to doubt that the appellant has undertaken improvements to the 
site and surrounding area, nor that the work undertaken to the dwelling has 
resulted in an energy efficient building. These matters do not alter the planning 
merits of the appeal proposal and as such, carry minimal weight. 
 
The personal circumstances of a family member of the appellant is noted. There is 
very little evidence to confirm these circumstances. These matters attract minimal 
weight, therefore. 
 
The Green Belt Balance and Conclusion 
The proposal constitutes inappropriate development in the Green Belt and harms 
openness.  
 
For the reasons given, the cumulative weight of the other considerations in this 
case does not clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt. Consequently, the very 
special circumstances necessary to justify this development do not exist. 
 
 

Page 92



The development is contrary to Policy SADM34 of the Local Plan, and also with 
the Framework, both of which seek to protect the Green Belt. 
 
Consequently, the appeal is dismissed. 
 

 

  

 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



    

 

Part I 
Main author: Ganesh Gnanamoorthy 

Executive Member: Councillor Rose Grewal 
 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL - DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 19TH DECEMBER 2024 

REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (PLANNING) 
 

PLANNING UPDATE – FUTURE PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 

1          Introduction 

 

1.1      This report is for the Development Management Committee to provide a summary of applications that might be presented to Committee over the coming months.  If the call-
in or application is withdrawn, the item will not be presented. 
 

1.2      The applications should not be debated as part of this agenda, however any Councillor wishing to raise specific points about the proposal – such as a need for planning 
obligations or issue(s) that might not readily be apparent from the proposal or any other matter, may do so and the case officer will consider, where they are planning 
considerations, these matters raised as part of the future Committee report. 

 

1.3       Appendix 1 comprises all applications that have been called-in or objected to by Town or Parish Councils.  Appendix 2 comprises those that are a departure from the Local 
Plan, Officers consider should be determined by Development Management Committee, the applicant is the Borough Council or it has an interest in the land and an 
objection has been received. 
 

2          Recommendation 

 

2.1      That members note this report. 
 

  
 

  

    

 

Appendix 1 - Applications comprising call-ins or major objections 

Ward Application Ref Site Address Proposal Case Officer Called in by Call In Date Expected DMC 

Hatfield South West 6/2024/1114/FULL 17 Thrush Avenue Hatfield AL10 
8QU 

Subdivision of existing dwelling into two 
dwellings with additional parking space 

Ms Elizabeth 
Mugova 

Councillor Helena 
Goldwater, Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough 
Council 

01/08/2024  

Hatfield Villages 6/2023/1677/FULL Emmanuels Farm Great North 
Road Welwyn Garden City AL8 
7TA 

Change of use of land to add 4 pitches for 
Gypsy/Traveller family, comprising the siting of 
1 mobile and 1 touring caravan per pitch, 
formation of access road and retention of the 
existing temporary pitch granted 

Mr William Myers Councillor Samuel 
Kasumu, Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough 
Council 

09/11/2023  

Hollybush 6/2023/1220/FULL Land off Beehive Lane Welwyn 
Garden City AL7 4BW 

Change of use from sui generis to 
dwellinghouse (class C3) and erection of 4 new 
dwelling houses, with associated access, car 
parking, amenity space and landscaping 
following demolition of existing building 
(amended scheme) 

Ms Emily Stainer Councillor Lynn 
Chesterman, 
Welwyn Hatfield 
Borough Council 

05/09/2023  

Northaw and Cuffley 6/2024/1608/FULL 45 Hill Rise Cuffley Potters Bar 
EN6 4EH 

Erection of two detached dwellings following 
the subdivision of the existing plot 

Ms Jessica Fuller The Clerk, Northaw 
& Cuffley Parish 
Council 

04/10/2024  

Peartree 6/2021/0671/MAJ South Side Former Shredded 
Wheat Factory Broadwater Road 
Welwyn Garden City 

Erection of 317 dwellings (Class C3) with 
associated access, parking, landscaping and 
other supporting infrastructure, and outline 
planning for up to 404 dwellings (Class C3) 

Mr William Myers Councillor Malcolm 
Cowan, Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough 
Council 

31/03/2021  

P
age 95

A
genda Item

 8

https://planning.welhat.gov.uk/planning/display/6/2024/1114/FULL
https://planning.welhat.gov.uk/planning/display/6/2023/1677/FULL
https://planning.welhat.gov.uk/planning/display/6/2023/1220/FULL
https://planning.welhat.gov.uk/planning/display/6/2024/1608/FULL
https://planning.welhat.gov.uk/planning/display/6/2021/0671/MAJ


with all matters reserved for access. 

Welham Green & 
Hatfield South 

6/2016/1493/VAR Thunderbridge Yard Bulls Lane 
Hatfield AL9 7BB 

Variation of condition 1 to extend the 
temporary permission; condition 3 to permit 
eight caravans of which no more than five 
would be static caravans; condition 4 to vary 
the approved drawings; and condition 5 to vary 
the site development scheme; of planning 
permission S6/2011/0116/FP 

Mr Mark Peacock Councillor Paul 
Zukowskyj, Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough 
Council 

22/08/2016  

Welham Green & 
Hatfield South 

6/2023/0988/VAR Roundhouse Farm, Land Off of 
Bullens Green Lane, Colney Heath 

Variation to conditions 2 (boundary and surface 
treatment plan), 3 (fire tracking and parking 
plan), 4, (visitor spaces on fire tracking and 
parking plan), 5 (on plot garages on fire 
tracking and parking plan), 6 (soft 
landscaping), 7 (Landscape and ecological 
management plan), 8 (arboricultural method 
statement) and 10 (approved plans) on 
planning permission 6/2022/0824/RM 

Mr David Elmore Councillor Paul 
Zukowskyj, Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough 
Council 

16/05/2023  

Welham Green & 
Hatfield South 

6/2024/0628/FULL Glendee Boarding Kennels Dixons 
Hill Close Welham Green Hatfield 
AL9 7EN 

Erection of nine dwellings, including access 
road, hard standing and fencing following the 
demolition of existing buildings 

Ms Elizabeth 
Mugova 

Christine Wootton, 
North Mymms Parish 
Council 

14/05/2024  

Welham Green & 
Hatfield South 

6/2024/1636/FULL 84 Warrengate Road North Mymms 
Hatfield AL9 7TY 

Erection of a replacement dwelling Mr Raymond Lee Christine Wootton, 
North Mymms Parish 
Council 

17/10/2024  

Welham Green & 
Hatfield South 

6/2024/1907/FULL 11 Gould Close Welham Green 
Hatfield AL9 7EB 

Change of use from residential dwelling (Class 
C3) to a residential care home (Class C2) 

Ms Elizabeth 
Mugova 

Councillor Paul 
Zukowskyj, Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough 
Council 

02/11/2024  

Welwyn East 6/2023/2093/MAJ 57 New Road Digswell Welwyn 
AL6 0AL 

Erection of two new residential apartment 
buildings to provide 12 x 2-bedroom and 5 x 3-
bedroom apartments, construction of access, 
landscape planting and ancillary development 
following the demolition of existing house and 
outbuildings 

Mr Raymond Lee Arooj Afzal, Welwyn 
Parish Council 

09/11/2023  

Welwyn East 6/2023/2483/FULL 38 New Road Digswell Welwyn 
AL6 0AH 

Erection of a detached two storey building with 
accommodation at lower ground level 
comprising 9 apartments following demolition 
of existing property with associated bin and 
cycle storage and car parking provision 

Mr Raymond Lee Arooj Afzal, Welwyn 
Parish Council 

22/11/2024 Jan 2025 

Welwyn East 6/2024/1183/MAJ 55 New Road Digswell Welwyn 
Hertfordshire AL6 0AL 

Erection of 3 storey 10 x apartment following 
demolition of existing dwelling, alterations to 
access, provision of parking and bin/cycle 
stores 

Mr Raymond Lee Arooj Afzal, Welwyn 
Parish Council 

18/07/2024  

Welwyn West 6/2016/0270/VAR Four Oaks 1-4 Great North Road 
Welwyn AL6 0PL 

Variation of conditions 1 (occupants) and 2 
(number of caravans) of Planning Permission 
N6/2010/0211/S73B to increase the number of 
caravans from 10 to 20 of which no more than 
5 shall be static caravans or mobile homes. 

Mr Raymond Lee Councillor Julie 
Cragg, Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough 
Council 

02/03/2016  

Welwyn West 6/2024/0080/FULL Land to the front of The Frythe and 
to the south of Butterwick Way 
Wilshere Park Welwyn Garden City 

Addition of 14 visitor parking bays Mr James Wells Councillor Tony 
Kingsbury, Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough 

05/03/2024 Feb 2025 

P
age 96

https://planning.welhat.gov.uk/planning/display/6/2016/1493/VAR
https://planning.welhat.gov.uk/planning/display/6/2023/0988/VAR
https://planning.welhat.gov.uk/planning/display/6/2024/0628/FULL
https://planning.welhat.gov.uk/planning/display/6/2024/1636/FULL
https://planning.welhat.gov.uk/planning/display/6/2024/1907/FULL
https://planning.welhat.gov.uk/planning/display/6/2023/2093/MAJ
https://planning.welhat.gov.uk/planning/display/6/2023/2483/FULL
https://planning.welhat.gov.uk/planning/display/6/2024/1183/MAJ
https://planning.welhat.gov.uk/planning/display/6/2016/0270/VAR
https://planning.welhat.gov.uk/planning/display/6/2024/0080/FULL


Council 
 

 

Appendix 2 - All other 
applications not 
comprising call-ins or 
major objections 

 

 

    

   NONE 

P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 6/2024/2035/OUTLINE -  ST CHRISTOPHERS NURSING HOME
	6 6/2024/1569/FULL - HATFIELD MARKET PLACE
	7 APPEAL DECISIONS 11/10/2024 to 10/12/2024
	8 FUTURE PLANNING APPLICATIONS

